
Children's Commissioning Committee  
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are invited to attend the meeting of the Children's Commissioning Committee to 
be held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated. 
David Wilcock 
Monitoring Officer 

 
DATE: Wednesday, 14 July 2021 
 
TIME:  9.30 am 
 
VENUE: Microsoft Teams Meeting 

 
AGENDA 
 

1   Apologies for Absence.  
 

 

2   Declarations of Interest.  
 

 

3   Draft minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2021.  
 

(Pages 1 - 6) 

4   Matters arising.  
 

 

5   Integrated Commissioning Annual Plan for Children's services 
2021/22 (Emma Reid)  
 

(Pages 7 - 20) 

6   Finance Report. (David Warhurst)  
 

(Pages 21 - 30) 

7   Ingleside Birth & Community Centre Update. (Karen Proctor)  
 

(Pages 31 - 68) 

8   SEND Activity Assurance (Geoff Catterall)  
 

(Pages 69 - 86) 

9   0-25 Highlight reports from sub groups. (For Information)  
 

(Pages 87 - 94) 

10   Urgent Business - Part 1.  
 

 

11   Exclusion of the Public.  
 

 

12   Urgent Business - Part 2.  
 

 

13   Date and time of next meeting - Wednesday 15 September 2021 
at 9.30am  
 

 

 
Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3011 
Mike McHugh, Senior Democratic Services Officer E-Mail: mike.mchugh@salford.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE 

 

Wednesday 10 March 2021, 09:30 – 10:42 

 

Present 

 

Councillor John Merry, CBE (JM) Deputy City Mayor and Lead Member for  

(Chair)     Children’s and Young People Services - SCC 

 

Nick Browne (NB) Clinical Director of Partnerships / Neighbourhood 

Lead - CCG 

Steve Dixon (SD) Chief Accountable Officer - CCG 

Councillor Bill Hinds (BH) Lead Member for Finance and Support Services - 

SCC 

Francine Thorpe (FT) Director of Quality and Innovation - CCG 

David Warhurst (DW)   Chief Finance Officer - CCG 

Karen Proctor (KP)   Director of Commissioning - CCG 

Charlotte Ramsden (CR)  Strategic Director People - SCC 

Tom Regan (TR)   Clinical Lead for Transformation - CCG 

Councillor John Walsh (JW) Executive Support Member for Education and  

     Learning - SCC 

Chris Hesketh (CH)   Head of Financial Management - SCC 

 

In Attendance 

 

Debbie Blackburn (BD) Assistant Director Public Health Nursing and 

Wellbeing - SCC 

Harry Golby (HG)   Assistant Director of Commissioning - CCG 

Eejay Whitehead (EW) Senior Service Improvement Manager - Children & 

Maternity - CCG 

Claire Vaughan (CV) Head of Medicines Optimisation - CCG 

Emily Edwards (EE) Senior Integrated Commissioning Manager - SCC 

Mike McHugh (MM)   Senior Democratic Services Advisor - SCC 

 

Apologies 

 

Councillor Jim Cammell (JC) 

Muna Abdel Aziz (MAA) 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



1. Apologies for Absence 

 

The above apologies were noted. 

 

2. Declarations of Interest 

 

There were no declarations of interest in any of the items on the agenda. 

 

3. Draft Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 January 2021 

 

The minutes of the meeting held on 13 January 2021 were approved as a correct 

record. 

 

4. Matters arising 

 

There were no matters arising. 

 

5. Finance Report 

 

DW presented a financial report which provided the Children’s Commissioning 
Committee (CCC) with an in-year update in relation to the financial performance of 
the Children’s element of the integrated fund at month 10 (January) 2020/21. 

 

It was confirmed that, at month 10, the children’s element of the Integrated Fund (IF) 
was forecast to be overspent by £1.2m. This was an improvement of £1.3m from the 
last reported position. 
 
The main areas of over and under performance within the Fund against 
the approved IF plan for 2020/21 were highlighted, as follows - 
 
(i) Looked After Children £5.5m overspend 
 

There had been an improvement of £0.2m since the last report to the 
committee. This was due to reduced placement costs within and outside 
Salford. 

 
(ii) Committed Developments £5.4m underspend 
 
A further £1.0m had been released meaning the whole of the contingency had now 
been released with this predominantly offsetting the pressure on looked after 
children. 
 
An update was provided on the progress of planning for 2021/22 financial plan of the 
Integrated Fund in its entirety, along with the next steps and risk associated with 
planning for 2021/22. 
 

 

Page 2



It was confirmed that, as the NHS planning round had been paused; and scheduled 

to be reported in June 2021. Owing to this, there was no certainty around 2021/22 

allocations but the first draft plan, which included NHS ‘must do’s’ and local authority 

priorities, projected a deficit of £10.5m across the whole integrated fund.  

 

A significant amount of work had been undertaken subsequently which had enabled 

the expected risk to be reduced to around £6m. This was higher than the £4.7m risk 

at the start of 2020/21. However, it afforded the system’s key priorities and ensured 

Salford was well placed to recover and restore services post-pandemic.  

 
Discussion took place in respect of a number of issues, including - 
 
- the production of an opening budget paper would be presented at the next 

committee meeting. 
 
- the assessment of risk across the organisations. 
 
- details relating to the implementation of the ‘real living wage’ 
 
- service planning owing to future budgetary constraints 
 
RESOLVED: (1) THAT the in-year position for the children’s integrated fund for 
2020/21 and the next steps and risks identified affecting the children’s integrated 
fund presently and in the future be noted. 
 
  (2) THAT a report detailing the opening budget for 2021/22 be 
submitted at the next meeting of this Committee.  
 
6. THRIVE Update 

 

BD and EE presented a report which provided an update and progress report on 

Salford’s Thrive programme, which included: 

 

- An Executive Summary of the key achievements and challenges. 

 

- an overview of the additional pressures that COVID-19 had placed and 

continued to place on the children and young people’s emotional health 

and wellbeing system.  

 

- other locality strategic work which highlighted the links across the wider 

children’s 0-25 transformation, health and social care programmes. 

 

- Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOES) were highlighted and included an infographic 

summary of compliance against these. 

 

 

 

 

Page 3



- Details of the Greater Manchester children’s and young people’s mental 

health programme. It was noted that some key priorities were co-ordinated / 

supported or driven at GM level and this fed into the RAG rating against some 

KLOES where Salford’s role was to influence or support joint commissioning 

arrangements. 

 

- A comprehensive overview of the progress made against the delivery plan 

and priorities for 2020-21.  

 

- An overview of the finance and investment in children’s emotional health and 

wellbeing in Salford, and what services and support that the combined funding 

provided. A forecast of the investment plan for 2021-22, and more details of 

funding and budgets was also provided. 

 

- An overview of Salford’s performance against our key national and GM 

outcomes targets and indicators. Also identified were the elements of 

children’s emotional health system that were most challenging in terms of 

access and performance, and the action being taken to address these. 

 

- A summary of the key priorities for 2021-22 that were identified by the Thrive 

Partnership in December. Partners agreed that last year’s priorities would roll 

forward and continue as ‘normal business’. 

 

The priorities identified for next year reflected the critical issues, concerns and 

challenges that had surfaced during the pandemic and were placing new / 

additional pressures across the children’s and young people’s emotional 

health system.  

 

It was confirmed that there was a statutory requirement on all CCGs to produce and 

publish an annual update to their local transformation plans. In Salford publication on 

CCG and Council websites.  

 

Owing to the Covid-19 pandemic and the associated pressures across the health 

system, NHS England had moved the required date of publication to 30 September 

2021.  

 

Discussion took place in respect of a number of issues, which included - 

 

- the increase in the prevalence of mental health issues being reported by, and 

on behalf of, children and young people in the city 

 

- the promotion of services available to children and young people across the 

city 

 

 

 

Page 4



- the need to ensure that individuals moving from children’s to adult services 

were effectively monitored through the transition period. 

 

It was confirmed that the Transitions Policy was scheduled to be presented at 

the meeting of this Committee in May 2021. 

 

- the need to ensure clarity in respect of the process for referrals being made 

into the system, particularly for GPs in the city. 

 

- a request for further outcome / performance details to be included in future 

update reports 

 

It was confirmed that this report was also subject to consideration and approval at 

the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board in May 2021. 

 

RESOLVED: (1) THAT progress on the Thrive work programme in 2020-21, as 

outlined in detail in the Salford Thrive Plan - Update 2021, be noted. 

 

  (2) THAT the publication of the Thrive Plan Update on CCG and 

Council websites, subject to the approval of the Health and Wellbeing Board, be 

confirmed. 

 

  (3) THAT the proposed priorities and plans for 2021-22 be supported. 

 

7. Children’s Assurance Updates 
 

RESOLVED: THAT consideration of this item be deferred to a future meeting of this 

Committee. 

 

8. 0-25 Highlight reports from sub-groups 

 

The following items were submitted to the Committee for information - 

 

- 0-25 Highlight (CAN ERG) 

- 0-25 Highlight (Early Help Neighbourhood Operational Group (EHNOG)) 

- 0-25 Highlight (Salford Thrive) 

- 0-25 Highlight (Therapies ERG) 

 

RESOLVED: THAT the update reports be noted. 

 

9. Urgent Business - Part 1 

 

There were no items of urgent business. 

 

 

 

Page 5



10.  Exclusion of the Public 

 

RESOLVED: THAT, under section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 

public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 

grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as specified in 

paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. 

 

11.  Ingleside Birth and Community Centre update 

 
KP gave an update which provided the Children’s Commissioning 
Committee (CCC) with details of progress following the discussion at previous 
meetings on the future commissioning of Ingleside BCC. 

 

RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted; and that further updates be presented at 

future meetings of this Committee.  

 

12.  Urgent Business - Part 2 

 

There were no items of urgent business. 

 

13.  Dates of Future Meetings  

 

RESOLVED: THAT the next meeting of this Committee be held on Wednesday 12 

May 2021, at 9.30am. 

Page 6



  
 

                                                           
 
   
 

 
PLEASE INDICATE TIME REQUIRED TO PRESENT THE PAPER: 15 Minutes 

 
CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  
 
 
Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)   
 
14th July 2021 (Date of Meeting) 
 

Report of: 
 

Joint Head of Planning and Performance  

Date of Paper: 
 

2nd July 2021 

Subject: 
 

Integrated Commissioning Annual Plan for 
Children’s services 2021/22 

In case of query  
Please contact: 
 

Emma Reid 
0161 793 3501  
Emma.Reid@salford.gov.uk  

Strategic Priorities:  Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to: 
 
 

 Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research 

 Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services) 

x Children’s and Maternity Services 

 Primary Care 

 Enabling Transformation 

Purpose of Paper:                                    
 
This paper presents to the committee the commissioning work plan for 2021/22 for children’s 
services (Appendix 1).  The plan outlines the high-level priorities for children’s services from 
1st April 2021 until 31st March 2022 to ensure the CCG and City Council play a leading role 
in delivering the Salford Locality Plan for local people.   
 
A draft copy of the Integrated Commissioning Annual Plan for 2021/22 was shared with the 
Health and Care Commissioning Committee (HCCB) on 16th June 2021; As in previous 
years, HCCB members were asked to delegate authority for approval of the final plan as 
follows: 

• Adults Commissioning Committee – Adults Plan 
• Children’s Commissioning Committee – Children’s and Maternity Plan 
• Primary Care Commissioning Committee – Primary Care Plan 
• CCG Executive Team – Quality, safety, research and innovation and Enablers 

sections of the plan. 
 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Emma.Reid@salford.gov.uk


  
 

                                                           
 
   
 

Further explanatory information required 
 

 
HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP? 
 

 
Strategic planning is the vital to ensure we 
continue to plan for the future needs of our 
population.  The annual plan for integrated 
commissioning in Salford details the clear 
contribution the CCG and City Council make to 
resident health and wellbeing. 

 
WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED? 
  

None identified.   

 
WHAT EQUALITY RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED? 
 

None identified. 

 
DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM? 
 

 
No. 
 
The full year draft plan for the Integrated Fund 
was previously discussed and amended at the 
Health and Care Commissioning Board prior to 
the confirmation of NHS allocations.  This 
indicated that the forecast deficit in the fund 
would be approximately £6m. The partners 
agreed to move forward with the plan whilst 
identifying opportunities to mitigate this level of 
risk.  
 

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER. 

None identified. 

 
PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER: 
 

All CCG and City Council service groups. 

Footnote: 
 
Members of the Children’s Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible. 
 

Page 8



 

   
 

 

          
       

Document Development 
 

Process Yes No 
Not 

Applicable 

Comments and Date 
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome 

Public Engagement 

(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation) 

  x 

  

Clinical Engagement 

(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation) 

  x 

  

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally? 

  x 
  

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts? 
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed)  

 
 x 

  

Legal Advice Sought 

 

 

 
 x 

  

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval?  

(Please specify in comments) 
 

X   Presented to Health and Care 
Commissioning Board (HCCB) 
16th June 2021  

Delegated authority 
provided to committees 
for approval of final plans 
in July 2021 

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 9



 

    
    
    
     

Integrated Commissioning Annual Plan for Children’s services 2021/22 
 

1.  Executive Summary 
   

 
The main aim of this paper is to present to the committee the commissioning work plan for 
2021/22 for children’s services (Appendix 1).  The plan outlines the high-level priorities for 
children’s services from 1st April 2021 until 31st March 2022 to ensure the CCG and City 
Council play a leading role in delivering the Salford Locality Plan for local people.   
 
The background to our planning for the year is summarised in this report and delivery against 
this plan will be reported to the committee throughout the year. 
 
A draft copy of the Integrated Commissioning Annual Plan for 2021/22 was shared with the 
Health and Care Commissioning Committee (HCCB) on 16th June 2021.  As in previous 
years, HCCB members were asked to delegate authority for approval of the final plan as 
follows: 

• Adults Commissioning Committee – Adults Plan 
• Children’s Commissioning Committee – Children’s and Maternity Plan 
• Primary Care Commissioning Committee – Primary Care Plan 
• CCG Executive Team – Quality, safety, research and innovation and Enablers 

sections of the plan. 
 
It is not anticipated that there will be any significant changes to this plan.  However, it should 
be noted that in this time of ongoing uncertainty, this annual plan, even more than in other 
years, will remain a dynamic document which will be updated as required throughout the 
year. 
 
The Children’s Commissioning Committee is asked to: 
 

• Agree the Children’s Commissioning Work Plan (Appendix 1), noting that it is 
subject to iterations for the reasons outlined. 

 

2.  Salford Locality Plan 

 
2.1 In line with national and GM planning requirements Salford refreshed its Locality Plan 

in 2019/20.  The locality plan is the ‘blueprint’ for well-being, health and social care in 
Salford; it is a public health led, system plan. Launched in April 2016, it explains how 
providers of public services - like the NHS, Salford City Council, Fire Service and 
Police - will work closely together with the private and voluntary sector so services 
work better and cost less.  The refreshed Locality Plan for 2020-25 was approved by 
the Health and Wellbeing Board in June 2020. 

 
2.2 Work is ongoing to establish a framework for delivery and monitoring of the locality 

plan.  This work will be closely linked to the reporting arrangements for the integrated 
commissioning plan in Salford, to avoid duplication of effort across the system.   

 
2.3 There is much more to do across the city in terms of delivering our locality vision, 

priorities, and clinical outcomes in 2021/22. However, Salford is in a very strong 

Page 10



 

    
    
    
     

position, with a clear history of investment in mental health services and in primary 
care services; a drive to move services from acute to community settings and with a 
clear focus on early identification in everything from cancer diagnosis to childhood 
development difficulties. 

 

3. Integrated Commissioning Annual Plan for 2021/22 

 
3.1 2020 was an extraordinary year and 2021 so far continues to present daily challenges 

as we respond to the changing COVID-19 situation.  In prioritising work and 
determining an approach for any new actions for 2021/22, due regard has been given 
to: 

 

 The refreshed Great Eight - the Salford Way, including newly published city-
wide strategies for tackling poverty and inequalities, including those which may 
have been exacerbated by COVID-19 

 ‘building back better and fairer’ 

 engaging with the public 

 engaging with clinicians and partner organisations, including the VCSE sector 

 building social value 
 
3.2 2021/22 marks the fifth year that Salford City Council and Salford CCG have 

collaboratively developed strong prioritised business plans.  The draft integrated 
commissioning plan for 2021/22 has been developed using detailed needs 
assessment, population growth estimates, knowledge of pressures in the system, and 
quality, safety, and performance within the services we commission.  It also integrates 
all national expectations for the NHS, including the NHS Long Term Plan, to ensure 
we continue to keep Salford at the forefront of delivering ‘outstanding’ services to 
patients. 

 
3.3 Working as a leading partner in the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care 

Partnership and locally with Salford City Council the plan includes our joint working to 
ensure patients in Salford benefit from the highest quality joined up care.  It is 
structured in line with the integrated commissioning arrangements with Salford City 
Council, as we decide together how best to spend the health and social care funding 
to most improve health and wellbeing for local residents. 

 
3.4 The annual planning processes across the CCG and the City Council have been 

overseen by the Joint Head of Planning and Performance and regular updates have 
been provided to the Integrated Leadership Team (ILT) and CCG Executive Team.  
An early draft of the integrated commissioning plan was shared with the CCG 
Executive Team and Integrated Leadership Team in May, subject to any final 
amendments as a result of City Council business planning (for jointly delivered areas 
of work) which concluded at the end of June 2021.    

 
3.5 It is important to note that detailed local plans are still being finalised with colleagues 

from the CCG and Salford City Council and may be subject to in year change, pending 
the publication of any further national planning guidance; any further guidance from 
GM / NHSE/I as part of Phase 4 COVID-19 planning; and any emerging guidance with 
regards to planning for the transition to a Greater Manchester (GM) Integrated Care 
System (ICS).   

Page 11



 

    
    
    
     

 
3.6 There are several objectives incorporated into this plan which relate to recovery 

following the huge impact COVID-19 has had on our local population and on our health 
and care services.  Whilst much planning has taken place to put us on the road to 
recovery, it is impossible to completely predict what ongoing impact COVID-19 will 
have, or indeed whether we may experience additional waves of the virus.  This plan 
will remain dynamic to ensure that we can respond rapidly to any changes needs within 
our local population or health and care system because of COVID-19, or indeed other 
factors. 

 
3.7 Supplementary Finance Commentary 
 
3.8 The full year draft plan for the Integrated Fund was previously discussed and amended 

at the Health and Care Commissioning Board prior to the confirmation of NHS 
allocations.  This indicated that the forecast deficit in the fund would be approximately 
£6m. The partners agreed to move forward with the plan whilst identifying opportunities 
to mitigate this level of risk.  
 

3.9 NHS allocations have now been confirmed for the first six months of 2021/22 only and 
draft budgets have been reviewed accordingly.  Based on the assumptions that NHS 
allocations will be the same for the second half of 2021/22 and expenditure is in line 
with budgets, the forecast deficit in the Integrated Fund is £6.1m.  All of the locality 
plan investments approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board have been included in 
the financial plan as committed expenditure.  However there are still a number of risks 
and challenges inherent in the plan such as deliverability of savings from the Better 
Outcomes New Delivery (BOND) programme, assumptions regarding the likely level 
of client income, the requirement for ongoing COVID support services and the difficulty 
in making investment decisions where funding is not certain for the full financial year. 

 
 

4. NHS National Planning Guidance 

 
4.1 NHS England issued its 2021/22 Priorities and Operational Planning Guidance on 25th 

March. The guidance focuses on six priorities for the year ahead:   
 

A. Supporting the health and wellbeing of staff and taking action on recruitment and 
retention 

B. Delivering the NHS COVID vaccination programme and continuing to meet the needs of 
patients with COVID-19 

C. Building on what we have learned during the pandemic to transform the delivery of 
services, accelerate the restoration of elective and cancer care and manage the 
increasing demand on mental health services 

D. Expanding primary care capacity to improve access, local health outcomes and address 
health inequalities 

E. Transforming community and urgent and emergency care to prevent inappropriate 
attendance at emergency departments (ED), improve timely admission to hospital for ED 
patients and reduce length of stay 

F. Working collaboratively across systems to deliver on these priorities. 
 

Page 12



 

    
    
    
     

4.2  As part of Salford’s local annual planning process, Salford Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) has considered this guidance in detail, including undertaking a local self-assessment 
and gap analysis with regard to what more we need to do for the people of Salford.  

 
 

5. Transition to an Integrated Care System 

 

5.1 In addition to the national planning guidance, NHS England has issued a set of 
Implementation Guidance which focuses on the key milestones of establishing an 
integrated care system (ICS).  Salford CCG will ensure that these milestones are built 
into its locality programme management arrangements and in planning for the 
transition to a GM ICS as part of its strategic delivery plans. 

  

6. Recommendations 
 
6.1 The Children’s Commissioning Committee is asked to: 
 

 Agree the Children’s Commissioning Work Plan (Appendix 1), noting that it is subject to 
iterations for the reasons outlined. 

 
 
 
 
Emma Reid 
Joint Head of Planning and Performance 
 
Appendix 1 – Integrated Commissioning Annual Plan for Children’s services 2021/22 
 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Page 1 

 

 

 
  

 
 

Health and Social Care 
Commissioning in Salford 
  

Integrated Commissioning 
Annual Plan (Children’s 

Services) 2021-22 

 

Appendix 1 

Page 15



 

 
Page 2 

 

Strategic Plan on a Page 2021-22 – Health and Social Care Commissioning in Salford 
 

 

P
age 16



 

 
Page 3 

 

 

 

Children’s and Maternity Services 

Executive Lead Charlotte Ramsden; Karen Proctor Lead Member Cllr. Jim Cammell 

Joint Chairs Cllr. Jim Cammell; Dr. Nick Browne Clinical Lead Wan Ley-Yeung 

Lay Lead Paul Kavanagh-Fields  

 
We want all children and young people in Salford to achieve their potential. 

 

Strategic Programme  Draft 2021-22 Actions 

Children's Care Review services in light of COVID recovery - determine and implement 
restoration activities relevant to Children's Care in accordance with GM recovery 
plans and national planning guidance 

Embed and further develop an integrated locality model to ensure families, 
children and young people (0-25 years) are offered early help which is timely and 
empowers families to take control of their lives 

Explore the integration of transitional and contextual safeguarding and develop 
an overarching strategy with partners and complex safeguarding teams 

Implement the strategy for domestic abuse services for children's and adult 
services   

Implement the Family Partnership Model in Children's social care and evaluate 
the impact in Early Help services   

Evidence a reduction in the number of parents who have repeated children 
looked after following birth, through the Strengthening Families Programme; and 
engage the Early Help Neighbourhood Group to identify gaps and scale   

Implement a whole system approach to trauma and adversity and link to Greater 
Manchester developments   

Undertake baselines, develop the business case, establish an outcomes 
framework and review/refine a new needs-led integrated neuro-development 
pathway for children and young people aged 0-25   

Implementation of recruitment and retention strategy for children's services 
workforce 

Produce an all age Adolescence Strategy  

Route29 to develop a multi-agency, and intelligence-led approach and strategy 
for delivery, that helps practitioners to work with ‘safe uncertainty’, to learn and 
take risks together, and to stay focused on managing risk for the young person 
 

Transformation of the residential estate   

Deliver the Inclusion Strategy and action plan   

Deliver the SEND Strategy and action plan   

Refresh the Salford Employment Partnership Skills Strategy and action plan   

Review the council's Employment Skills offer and package of support   

Support effective leadership in schools (supporting effective learning, improving 

Page 17



 

 
Page 4 

 

Strategic Programme  Draft 2021-22 Actions 

school governance, strengthening safeguarding)   

Ensure there is sufficiency and quality of school provision   

Undertake service reviews of short term investments with a view to future long 
term plans   

Children's Health Identify the needs and options for paediatric end of life and palliative care 
services  

Agree business case for Paediatric Occupational Therapy and Physiotherapy   

Review access to Acute Paediatric Services i.e. Paediatric Assessment and 
Decision Area (PANDA) unit provision and Paediatric impatient and surgical beds   

Evaluate the paediatric avoidable admissions care bundle   

Explore opportunity for the introduction of Individual Budgets for Children and 
young people 

Gain agreement and commence the use of the amended Paediatric 
Ophthalmology Service specification   

Determine future commissioning arrangements for Ingleside Birth and 
Community Centre (BCC)   

Agree business case for Community Paediatrics   

Agree a local plan in response to the Greater Manchester services specification 
for Children’s Community Nursing Team   

Evaluate implementation of paediatric Speech Language and Communication 
Needs specification   

Review paediatric equipment provision in the light of recent additional technician 
post considering recommendations from the special educational needs and 
disability (SEND) review and orthotics   

Review services in light of COVID recovery - determine and implement 
restoration activities relevant to Children's Health in accordance with GM 
recovery plans and national planning guidance   

Children's Mental 
Health 

Co-ordinate the approach for parent-infant mental health to provide early 
intervention to improve attachment and bonding   

Develop a support and supervision network to support children's workforce to 
ensure they receive the support they need to carry out their work safely and 
confidently 

Finalise, gain approval and implement new transitions policy and guidance for 
young people with complex needs and to support improved mental health 
transitions   

Review counselling for children and young people within Salford (including 
bereavement and palliative care)   

Implement an integrated eating disorder pathway for young people, with non-
interruption of care at age 18 and/or earlier access to adult services if and when 
needed 

Review services in light of COVID recovery - determine and implement 
restoration activities relevant to Children's Mental Health in accordance with GM 
recovery plans and national planning guidance   

Delivery of suicide prevention training programme to support staff / volunteers 
working with Salford children and young people  

Develop an approach to personal budgets in mental health   

Develop an approach to supporting the mental health needs of children with 

Page 18



 

 
Page 5 

 

Strategic Programme  Draft 2021-22 Actions 

special educational needs and disability (SEND)   
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Children’s Commissioning Committee  
14th July 2021 
4. Finance Report  
 
Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please delete as appropriate) 
 

Report of: Chief Finance Officer 

Date of Paper: 30th June 2021 

In case of query, please contact: David Warhurst, Interim Chief Finance Officer 

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research  

Adult Services 

Children’s and Maternity Services  

All Age Mental Health  

Primary Care  

Enabling Transformation  

Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality  

Reducing Health Inequalities  

Skills and Education (A Learning City)  

Affordable Housing  

Transport and Digital Connectivity  

Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  

Creating an Economy for All  

Purpose of Paper:                                    
 
This paper provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee with an overview of the 
opening budgets for 2021/22 (Section 2) along with an update relating to the YTD financial 
performance and forecast and associated risks to the financial plan of the Children’s 
Integrated Fund for 2021/22. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6

https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

Ensuring public funding is spent 
appropriately.  Achieving Value for Money, 
ensuring that funding is available to protect 
core services. 

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

Financial and performance pressures 
associated with the children’s integrated fund 
services. Through management of committed 
developments and holding providers to 
account for performance. 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

N/A 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

N/A 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

 
Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement? N/A 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? N/A 

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

N/A 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? 

N/A 

Has legal advice been obtained? N/A 

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  

Elements have been reviewed by the Service and 
Finance Group 

Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were 

involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were 
requested about any part of the work.

Page 22



 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
   

Finance Report 
 

1.  Executive Summary 
   

 
In 2020/21 the Children’s integrated fund (IF) had a projected overspend against available 
funding of £2.5m, which has increased by £0.4m, consequently the financial overspend for 
2021/22 is now £2.9m. This does allow funding of £1.3m for system priorities to be invested 
in year 
 
Whilst the HCCB signed off the adults’ £2.9m opening financial risk, as always, the system 
should aspire to achieve a financially sustainable position. The following detail the various 
element of the financial plan.  
 
Section 2 – Provides the committee with the key planning assumptions and detail around 
the Children’s integrated fund plan for 2021/22. 
 
Section 3 - Highlights the main areas of over and under performance within the Fund 
against the approved IF plan for 2021/22. 
 
Section 4 – Provides an update on the investment decisions that form part of the Children’s 
plan for 2021/22. 
 
Section 5 – Highlights the key risks and issues associated with delivering the 2021/22 plan 
for the Children’s integrated fund. 
 
Section 6 – Gives an update on the saving programme required in 2021/22 for the plan to 
be able to be achieved. 
 
CCC is asked to note the detailed plan and the associated risks along with the requirement 
to deliver on the savings programme for the Children’s Integrated Fund in 2021/22. 
 

 

2. Integrated Fund 2021/22 
 
2.1 Salford CCG and Salford Council agreed an integrated fund budget for adults’, 

children’s and primary care health and social care services in April 2019 which covered 
a five year period 2019/20 to 2023/24.  A partnership agreement was signed by 
partners that recognised this five year plan but also recognised that the funding 
identified over this period could be subject to change.  Therefore, within the partnership 
agreement, there are specific conditions: 

 
 Partners’ financial contributions to the pooled budget will be reviewed 

annually, ahead of the start of each financial year of the agreement. 
 

 The funding that each partner agrees to add into the pool is a “level 1” 
decision i.e. a matter reserved for the Governing Body of the CCG and the 
Cabinet of the City Council.  

 
2.1.1 Partners have agreed their financial contributions into the integrated fund budget for 

2021/22 and had previously agreed indicative values for the period to 2023/24. The 
potential transition of CCGs into an Integrated Care System results in a level of 

Page 23



 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
   

uncertainty, therefore planning beyond the end of this financial year is not now possible 
given the potential of scale of changes. 

 
2.2 The main changes from 2020/21 in relation to funding contributions are: 
 

 Council - Has maintained the non-recurrent grants that were in place for 2020/21 
as continuation of this funding was confirmed for another year in the funding 
settlement for local authorities (LA).  
 

 CCG - Financial regime has been limited again by NHSE in 2021/22 with a limit set 
at a Greater Manchester (GM) funding level and CCG’s only knowing their 
allocation for H1 (April to Sept). Uplift in contracts were set at 0.5% for NHS and 
0.2% for all non-NHS contracts. This resulted in the CCG increasing its 
contributions into the integrated fund services by 2.9% for 2021/22, although this 
is contingent on the financial regime and allocations not significantly changing for 
H2 (October to March 2022). 

 
2.3 The expenditure plan for the children’s integrated fund budget for 2021/22 is detailed 

in Appendix 2; a summary of the changes for 2021/22 is illustrated in figure 1. 
 
2.3.1 The main assumptions used in constructing the expenditure budget are as follows: 
 

 Inflation/Growth - has been added to CCG commissioned provider contracts only 
where applicable. 

 
 BOND Programme - The Council has committed to recurrently fund the BOND 

programme from 2021/22 after a successful two year pilot which ran outside of the 
integrated fund. 

 
 Council budgets – All other council budgets have been maintained at 2020/21 

planned levels for 2021/22 with additional funding added to the contingency until 
such time as it can be allocated to specific areas of spend. 
 

 Strategy – Other investments to support the localities strategy which was signed 
off through the commissioning committees and Health Care Commissioning Board 
towards the end of 2020/21. 

 
2.4 Based on the assumptions above and the available funding, to achieve financial 

balance within Children’s a savings target in year of £2.9m recurrently needs to be 
achieved. Overall, the integrated fund needs to achieve a saving of £6.1m. 

 
 
  

Page 24



 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
   

Figure 1: Children’s Fund Expenditure Summary 2021/22 

 
 
2.5 The above table shows how the 2021/22 budgets have been derived from the 

additional contributions to the Children’s integrated fund in line with joint 
commissioning decisions made for 2021/22. 

 

3. 2021/22 Monitoring 

 
3.1  This latest finance report provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) 

with the in-year position of the Children’s element of the Integrated Fund for the 
financial year (2021/22).  The appendices contain a lot of detail and are appended to 
give members a more thorough understanding of the scope of the Children’s 
Integrated Fund.  There are explanatory notes included in the appendices which 
hopefully explain the key messages contained within them. 

 
3.2 This finance report is based on May 2021 CCG and local authority information 

available at the time of writing the report.  A detailed analysis of the key children’s 
services within the Children’s Integrated Fund is shown in Appendices One and Two. 
The Service and Finance Group (SFG) have scrutinised the position and agreed to 
the key messages. 

 
3.3 The children’s services are forecasting to be overspent by £3.1m, this represents a 

worsening of £0.5m from the revised pressure of £2.6m, as shown in Table 1 below. 
 
  

Page 25



 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
   

Table 1: 2021/22 Financial Summary 

  
 
3.3.1 Looked After Children - This is the main area of overspend and remains the biggest 

risk for the fund.  These services are forecasting to be overspent by £4.9m, this is 
predominantly due to outside placements forecasting £2.8m overspend. Other areas 
of note are Fostering £1.2m overspent and Residential at £0.5m overspent. 

 
3.3.2 Complex Needs SEN - Transport costs for SEN is still a pressure for the fund and 

continues the trend from last year when school return to normal and transport was 
required again. The expectation is an overspend of £0.5m this year. 

 
3.3.3 Contingency - As part of the approved plan a contingency of £5.7m full year was set 

to reduce the historical financial pressure (£7.5m) within children’s services. The 
expectation is that the children’s services will deliver on proposed cost avoidance 
schemes through the year. As the pressure remains within Children’s this has been 
released in full to offset overspends. 

  

Page 26



 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
   

4. Strategy and Investment 
 
4.1 An amount of £1.3m is set to be invested in 2021/22 within Children’s services on new 

or enhanced services across several areas with a contingency of £5.7m set alongside 
this investment, as shown in figure 2 below. 

 
Figure 2: Children’s Investment Fund Summary 2021/22 

 
 
4.2 A contingency of £5.7m has been set since 2019/20 to cover historical overspends 

within the entire children’s services outturn. The historical pressure is higher than the 
value set and cost avoidance schemes have been set-up to help achieve a reduction 
on the historical pressure to meet the planned value. 

 
4.3 There are several smaller initiatives that are expected to be up and running in early 

2021/22 as business case have been approved for these already. 
 

5. Risks and Issues 
 
5.1 Although the financial plan is presented on a full year basis, the current NHS funding 

regime is only for six months, therefore H2 (Month’s 7-12) remains a risk to the fund 
until such time as the NHS is informed of its remaining allocation.   The full year plan 
has been developed using the assumptions available for the first half year in the 
absence of guidance, but it is becoming increasingly likely that CCG allocations will be 
reduced in the second half of the year.  As a result, additional savings may be required, 
or investments may need to be reprioritised. 

 
5.2 The contingency for historic overspend may not be enough to cover the pressures 

within the fund particularly if new pressures emerge during 2021/22 and cost 
avoidance schemes are not achieved in year. 

 

Page 27



 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
   

5.3 To achieve financial balance within Children’s a further £2.9m would need to be 
delivered recurrently in order to achieve a balanced plan for 2021/22. It is hoped that 
BOND and other service costs avoidance schemes can help deliver this reduction.  

 
5.4 COVID costs and the consequences of COVID could drive the level of expenditure 

above what has been funded. There are national funding streams to help offset some 
of these costs, which could help to partially mitigate this risk. 

 

6. Savings programme 
 
6.1 Although there is no specific savings programme for Children’s services there are 

significant measures that will be undertaken in order to achieve cost avoidance 
schemes through 2021/22. These will be monitored through the year to ensure these 
cost avoidance schemes deliver as without them this will put further pressure on the 
children’s position as the current contingency doesn’t cover the full historic cost of the 
services. 

 

7. Recommendations 
 
7.1 The Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) is asked to: 
 

 Note the Children’s integrated fund plan for 2021/22 

 Note the financial position for 2021/22 

 Note the risks to the Children’s integrated fund for 2021/22 

 Note the savings programme for 2021/22 to deliver a balanced plan 
 
David Warhurst 
Interim Chief Financial Officer, Salford CCG 
 
  

Page 28



 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
   

Appendix 1: Children’s Integrated Fund - Contributions 2021/22 

 
 
 
  

Page 29



 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
   

Appendix 2: Children’s Integrated Fund Expenditure Plan for 2021/22 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



  
 

                                                           
 
   
 

 
PLEASE INDICATE TIME REQUIRED TO PRESENT THE PAPER: 15 mins 

 
Children’s Commissioning Committee  
PART 1  
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  
 
 
Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)   
 
14th July 2021 
 

Report of: 
 

Karen Proctor 
Director of Commissioning 

Date of Paper: 
 

6th July 2021 

Subject: 
 

Future commissioning of Ingleside Birth & 
Community Centre 

In case of query  
Please contact: 
 

Eejay Whitehead 
eejaywhitehead@nhs.net 

Strategic Priorities:  Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to: 
 
 

 Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research 

 Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services) 

 Children’s and Maternity Services 

 Primary Care 

 Enabling Transformation 

Purpose of Paper:                                    
 
To request that the Commissioning Committee make a decision on the future 
commissioning arrangements for Ingleside Birth and Community Centre (BCC). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
  

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



  
 

                                                           
 
   
 

Further explanatory information required 
 

 
HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP? 
 

 
Sustainability for Ingleside BCC will support the 
choice agenda recommended in Better Births. 

 
WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED? 
  

 
Detailed within the paper 

 
WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED? 
 

 
Choice options for Salford women will be 
affected. 
 

 
DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM? 
 

 
Addresses a risk on the CCG risk log relating to 
sustainability of Ingleside BCC. 

 
PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER. 
 

 
N/A 

 
PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER: 
 

 
Contract with Bolton FT relating to Ingleside 
BCC. 

Footnote: 
 
Members of Children’s Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible. 
 

Page 32



 

   
 

 

          
       

Document Development 
 

Process Yes No 
Not 

Applicable 

Comments and Date 
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome 

Public Engagement 

(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation) 

   

  

Clinical Engagement 

(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation) 

   

  

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on Salford socially, economically and 
environmentally? 

 
 

  Reflected in options appraisal  

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts? 
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed)  

 
  

EA to be conducted as and when 
appropriate 

 

Legal Advice Sought 

 
   

Legal Advice would be sought if 
required 

 

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval?  

(Please specify in comments) 

   

  

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 33



 

   
   
   
   
   
  

 Future Commissioning of Ingleside Birth & Community Centre (BCC)  
 

1.  Executive Summary 
   

 
The current contract for provision of services at Ingleside BCC is held by Bolton NHS 
Foundation Trust (Bolton FT) following a full procurement process in 2017. The Centre 
opened in April 2018 with a three year contract to 31st March 2021. Due to issues relating to 
the COVID-19 pandemic, the contract was extended to 30th September 2021 to allow the 
future commissioning arrangements to be finalised.   
 
Work commenced with all existing maternity providers for Salford women through 2020-2021 
to explore the feasibility of a collaborative approach to enhance access to Ingleside BCC for 
all Salford women. There has also been a high-level evaluation of the current service at 
Ingleside, using innovation evaluation methodology.  
 
The proposed model is for Bolton FT to remain as the lead provider but working closely and 
collaboratively with other providers via ‘in-reach’ arrangements, principally Manchester FT, 
who are committed to delivering up to 100 births at the Ingleside site. The contract period 
would be 1st October 2021 – 31st March 2025 (3.5years) with an option to extend for a further 
year. 
 
This model is only sustainable through additional resource: covering the overheads for Bolton 
FT (circa £300k p.a.) and a local tariff arrangement with Manchester to allow them to engage 
(£130k p.a.).  
 
Recommendations:  

1. The Commissioning Committee is asked to approve the lead provider 
commissioning arrangement, with Bolton FT working collaboratively with other 
providers to facilitate ‘in-reach’ births. 

 
2. The Commissioning Committee is asked to approve the additional financial 

arrangements of £430k p.a. (potentially partially off-set by £100k p.a. from Bolton 
CCG) to allow the above commissioning model to work. 
 

3. The Commissioning Committee is asked to approve the contract period of 1st October 
2021 – 31st March 2025 (3.5 years) with an option to extend for a further year. 

 
4. The Commissioning Committee is asked to approve an extension of the peppercorn 

rent arrangement of £40k p.a. until the end of the contract period. 
 

 
 

2.  Background 

 
2.1 Maternity services in Salford are provided by three main organisations: 
 

 Bolton NHS Foundation Trust (Bolton FT) 

 Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WHHFT) 

Page 34



 

   
   
   
   
   
  

 Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (Manchester FT) – covering 
St Mary’s, North Manchester General and Wythenshawe hospitals 
 

NICE Guidance recommends that the four choices of birth place are offered to all women, 
namely home birth, obstetric unit, along-side midwifery-led unit and free-standing 
midwifery-led unit. In addition, the national maternity review Better Births: Improving 
outcomes of maternity services in England recommends that personalised care should 
be central to maternity services. This should be centred on the woman, her baby and her 
family, based around their needs and their decisions and should ensure genuine choice, 
informed by unbiased information.  The NHS Long Term Plan supports this by setting six 
key deliverables for personalised care in maternity services: 
 

 Most women (>51%) receive continuity of the person caring for them during 
pregnancy, birth and postnatally by 2021 

 All pregnant women have a personalised care plan by March 2021 

 All women can make choices about their maternity care during pregnancy, birth and 
postnatally 

 More women can give birth in midwifery settings (at home and in midwifery units) 

 All women receive improved postnatal care, in line with an improvement plan agreed 
by commissioners and providers 

 All women can access their electronic maternity personal health records by 2024. 
 
2.2 Provision of the free-standing midwifery-led unit at Ingleside Birth and Community Centre 

(BCC) was commissioned from Bolton FT in 2017 following a procurement exercise, with 
the centre opening in April 2018. This has meant that across these three organisations, 
the full range of maternity services are provided, including the four choices of birth place 
as recommended in NICE Guidance. These three organisations are also responsible for 
delivering community midwifery services across Salford. It should be noted that Ingleside 
is available for women who have been assessed as being appropriate for a midwife-led 
birth i.e. women on the standard care (low-risk) pathway. 

 
2.3 Since opening in April 2018 the number of births at Ingleside BCC, and the number of 

births to Salford women, has been closely monitored – see Table 1 below. 
 
Table 1 

Year Total births at Ingleside 
from Salford and elsewhere 

Total births at Ingleside for 
Salford women 

2018/19 95 71 

2019/20 141 74 

2020/21 185 87 

 
 Table 1 shows that the number of births has been steadily increasing. However, efforts 

to increase births have been negatively impacted by the national Saving Babies Lives 
guidance, which has changed the way risks are clinically managed and has meant that 
women at risk of a ‘small for gestational age’ baby are being identified at booking and 
during pregnancy, and are diverted onto a high risk pathway and precluded from birthing 
in a midwifery-led setting.  

 

Page 35



 

   
   
   
   
   
  

2.4 With the current contract period coming to an end, in order to support the continued 
viability of the Ingleside unit, interest was sought from Bolton FT and other providers of 
maternity services to the Salford population; Manchester Foundation Trust (which now 
includes the North Manchester service) and Warrington and Halton Foundation Trust, 
regarding an option of delivering the midwifery-led birthing unit on a consortium basis. It 
was initially not possible to progress discussion with the maternity services on this idea 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic, however negotiations began in July 2020 and continued 
until March 2021. In order that there was no break in service, the contract was extended 
with the current provider until 30th September 2021 to allow these negotiations to 
continue. 

 
 

3.         Ingleside Evaluation  
 
3.1 As part of the discussions with providers, a high-level evaluation of the current service 

at Ingleside, using innovation evaluation methodology, was completed. The evaluation 
looks at the utilisation of Ingleside over time, the reasons women are choosing Ingleside, 
whether the establishment of Ingleside has changed birth behaviours, the outcomes from 
using Ingleside and whether there is scope for wider utilisation of the facility in the future. 
As part of this, a consultation was conducted with local women to help understand what 
is important to them regarding their birth choices and to support modelling for low-risk 
births. The evaluation report is attached in Appendix 1. 

 
3.2 Some of the highlights of the evaluation include: 
 

 A steady increase in utilisation with booking and deliveries at Ingleside growing over 
time 

 Roughly a third of initial bookings at Ingleside end up with the woman delivering 
there 

 The women that deliver at Ingleside are predominately white British (although there 
are issues with the completeness of this data) 

 The majority of women that deliver at Ingleside are aged 25-34yrs 

 The principle reasons for choosing Ingleside are the natural environment and the 
location (nearest / easiest to get to) 

 The transfer rate following a complication for women delivering at Ingleside is 27% 

 There is scope to increase the information available to women around birth options. 
 
3.3 The overall evaluation of the service is positive, though the report makes 13 

recommendations that will be addressed as part of the future commissioning 
arrangements. 

 
 

4.         Future Commissioning Arrangements  
 
4.1 During the negotiations it was concluded that a viable multi-provider joint contracting 

model was unlikely to be agreed in the current situation. Therefore, a single lead provider 
was the preferred approach, with each other provider midwifery service consistently 
offering Ingleside as a choice, alongside a provider-to-provider ‘in-reach model’ allowing 
the other providers to offer Ingleside as a place of birth. Both Manchester FT and Bolton 

Page 36



 

   
   
   
   
   
  

FT expressed an interest in being the lead provider for Ingleside BCC. Significant 
discussions have taken place between Manchester FT and Bolton FT regarding the 
potential for a collaborative approach to Ingleside BCC. The outcome is that the two 
providers are supportive of Bolton FT as the lead provider for Ingleside after September 
2021, based on a Provider Collaborative model that Bolton FT, Manchester FT and other 
in-reach providers would put in place.  

 
4.2 The arrangement will include agreeing: 

 

 Governance arrangements: inclusion criteria, co-design pathway for birth of choice, 
guidelines based upon NICE, monthly incident review meetings, joint serious incident 
investigations, joint dashboard and an annual report led by Bolton FT and coproduced 
by all providers. 

 Communication/Partnership building: monthly Heads of Midwifery meetings to 
discuss any concerns and to try to reach a consensus on resolution, monthly in-reach 
Provider Collaborative meetings and operations engagement. 

 Shared facilities/activities: family tours, mutual aid, reception, utilisation of clinic 
rooms & ultrasound and joint fundraising. 

 Training  

 Marketing of Ingleside  

 Plans to address variation in access relating to BAME and deprived communities. 
 
4.3 The Commissioning Committee is asked to approve a contract period, based on this 

arrangement, of 1st October 2021 – 31st March 2025 (3.5 years) with an option to extend 
for a further year. The CCG has sought procurement advice regarding the above 
arrangement. Due to the fact that we had already tested the wider market in 2017 with 
the competitive tender for Ingleside, and as recently as December 2020 asked for 
expressions of interest with all local maternity providers that Salford CCG contract with, 
the risk of a challenge is deemed to be low. One to One Midwives, who bid for the 
services previously, ceased providing services in 2019. This approach has also been 
agreed with local providers and is an example of new Provider Collaboratives, described 
in the recent White Paper ‘Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health 
and social care for all’.  We have been advised for transparency that we publish the new 
arrangements and contract award. 

 
 

5.       Finance 
 
5.1 Work has taken place to understand the costs associated with providing the service at 

Ingleside and the income that this attracts in line with national tariff. What has been clear 
from the providers is that there has been no growth in births and therefore births delivered 
at Ingleside is purely a shift in activity from existing hospital sites. As such, the opening 
of Ingleside has introduced a new overhead cost that will need to be covered by existing 
activity and income. Ingleside has also created additional costs linked to staffing as the 
building has to be covered 24/7. Only if there was a significant increase in the amount of 
births would this be different. 

 
5.2 Work has been undertaken to develop a financial proposal based on an exchange of 

information and review of current costs. In the light of this, the Commissioning Committee 

Page 37



 

   
   
   
   
   
  

is recommended to approve funding of all of the overheads of the Ingleside site (circa 
£300k p.a.). Therefore, there should be no charges relating to overheads to other 
providers for using the facility. As lead provider, Bolton FT will apply charges to in-reach 
providers to cover fixed costs of hosting the centre (contribution to Centre Manager and 
Receptionist pay) and variable costs (consumables used per birth). The value of the 
charges have been agreed by all parties. 

 
5.3 To support up to 100 births at the centre, Manchester FT have requested additional 

funding for community midwife on call overnight, backfill for staff attending the centre for 
deliveries, Bolton FT hosting charges and a small amount of costs to cover engagement 
in the Provider Collaborative amounting to an additional £130k p.a. on top of tariff. As a 
condition of investment there will be the expectation that a minimum number of births will 
be agreed to be delivered at Ingleside.  

 
5.4 Therefore the additional cost to Salford commissioners above tariff to provide the service 

at Ingleside BCC, is £430k p.a. On average, roughly a third of the total births are to 
Bolton women, therefore Salford CCG is currently discussing with Bolton CCG a 
contribution based on the number of births at Ingleside by Bolton women. The request is 
for Bolton CCG to initially contribute a third of the overheads (£100k p.a.). This proportion 
is subject to adjustment in line with changes to the proportion of births by Bolton women 
at Ingleside. Salford CCG is currently waiting for confirmation from Bolton CCG on this 
contribution. 

 
5.5 As part of the initial contractual term, Salford City Council agreed to offer a peppercorn 

rent of £40k p.a. to Bolton FT to enable the model to be established. As this rent forms 
part of the overhead costs, it will be covered in the £300k p.a. identified above. The City 
Council agreed this figure for an initial period to 31.03.21, where upon the rent was due 
to rise to £80k p.a. unless the tenant could demonstrate that the service provision was 
not financially viable at the increased rent. The figure of £40k p.a. has been extended for 
this financial year. Given the additional resource that has been identified to support the 
Ingleside commissioning model, the request is that this rent remains at £40k p.a. for the 
duration of the contract period. 

 
 

6.        Next Steps 
 

6.1 Subject to this paper being supported, the next steps will include: 
 

 Agreement on the contract details with Bolton FT 

 A communications programme with staff and the public  

 The establishment of collaborative provider governance arrangements by Bolton FT 

 Agreement on future reporting requirements to the commissioners. 
 

 

7.       Recommendations 
 
7.1 The Commissioning Committee is asked to approve the lead provider commissioning 

arrangement, with Bolton FT working collaboratively with other providers to facilitate 
‘in-reach’ births. 

Page 38



 

   
   
   
   
   
  

 
7.2  The Commissioning Committee is asked to approve the additional financial 

arrangements of £430k p.a. (potentially partially off-set by £100k p.a. from Bolton 
CCG) to allow the above commissioning model to work. 

 
7.3  The Commissioning Committee is asked to approve the contract period of 1st October 

2021 – 31st March 2025 (3.5 years) with an option to extend for a further year. 
 
7.4 The Commissioning Committee is asked to approve an extension of the peppercorn rent 

arrangement of £40k p.a. until the end of the contract period. 
 
 
 
Eejay Whitehead 
Head of Service  

Page 39



 

   
   
   
   
   
  

Appendix 1: Ingleside BCC Evaluation Report 
 

Ingleside Report 

Draft June 21.docx
 

Page 40



1 
 

  
How has the introduction of Ingleside impacted births in Salford? 
An evaluation of Ingleside free-standing midwifery-led unit, April 2018 to March 2021 

 
 

Contents 

Intro & Purpose of this Evaluation 
Evaluation Questions 
Data Sources Used 

 
Part 1: Background and Development of Ingleside 
 1.1 Background  

1.2 Maternity Pioneer Collaborative Model 
1.3 Ingleside Birth and Community Centre 
 

Part 2: Outcomes 
 2.1 Utilisation 

2.1.1 Conversion 
2.1.2 Increasing rate of bookings 
2.1.3 Salford Sub-set 

2.2 Who is using Ingleside, and why? 
2.2.1 Demographic breakdown  
2.2.2 Choice of Birth location by Salford Neighbourhood 
2.2.3 Reasons for choosing Ingleside (Engagement) 

2.3 “Born in Salford” 
2.3.1 Does it matter to Salford women that their babies are born in Salford?  

2.4 For those who have given birth, what were their experiences like? 
2.4.1 Service user experience (perception) 
2.4.2 Patient Safety and Incidents 
 

Part 3. Is there scope for wider utilisation of Ingleside? 
3.1 Where are women getting their birth choices information from? 
3.2 How do women feel about the amount of information they receive about birth 
choices? 
3.3 Are women consistently being offered Ingleside as a birth option? 
3.4 Would more women choose Ingleside if it were an option for them? 

 
Part 4. Conclusions and Recommendations 

4.1 What has been the utilisation of Ingleside, and how has this developed over time? 
4.2 What has been the local, Salford, utilisation? 
4.3 Who is using Ingleside and why? 
4.4 What are the reasons given for choosing Ingleside? 
4.5 Has the establishment of Ingleside changed birth behaviours in Salford? 
4.6 Does it matter to women that their babies are born in Salford? 
4.7 For those who have given birth at Ingleside, what were their experiences like? 
4.8 Going Forward: Is there scope for wider utilisation of Ingleside? 

4.8.1 Information on choices 
4.8.2 Scope for Ingleside uptake if offered 
 

Part 5. Summary and next steps 
 

p2 
p2 
p2 
 
p3 
p3 
p3 
 
 
p5 
p5 
p6 
p6 
p7 
p9 
p9 
p10 
p12 
p12 
p13 
p13 
p13 
p14 
 
p16 
p16 
p16 
p18 
p18 
 
p22 
p22 
p23 
p23 
p24 
p24 
p24 
p25 
p26 
p26 
p26 
 
p27 

 
  

Page 41



2 
 

How has the introduction of Ingleside impacted births in Salford? 
An evaluation of Ingleside free-standing midwifery-led unit, April 2018 to March 2021 

 
Report of:  Nadine Payne, Senior Manager Innovation and Research, NHS Salford CCG 

Eejay Whitehead, Senior Service Improvement Manager Children & Maternity, NHS Salford CCG 
 

Introduction & Purpose of this Evaluation 
 
Ingleside Birth and Community Centre became operational on the 6th April 2018. Ingleside is a free-standing 
midwifery-led unit offering maternity services to women in Salford, Bolton and Wigan as part of the Maternity 
Pioneer programme.  In November 2020, an internal evaluation was commissioned by NHS Salford CCG to 
explore the impact and outcomes of this innovative new delivery model from a quality and patient experience 
perspective. Evaluation activities have been conducted by the CCG’s Innovation and Research and Engagement 
and Inclusion teams, with input from the Ingleside working group. The evaluation was conceived as a timely 
opportunity to review the provision over the course of the contract, and to make recommendations that may 
inform the future development of the service. As such, this is not a performance report, and contract 
deliverables are not within the scope of this evaluation.  

 
Evaluation Questions 
 
This evaluation seeks to answer the following questions: 

 What is the background to Ingleside’s establishment and how was it developed? 

 What has been the utilisation of Ingleside, and how has this developed over time? 
o What has been the local, Salford, utilisation? 

 Who is using Ingleside and why? 
o What are the key demographics of patients? 
o What are the reasons given for choosing Ingleside? 
o Has the establishment of Ingleside changed birth behaviours in Salford? 

o Does it matter to women that their babies are born in Salford? 

 What are the patient outcomes of Ingleside? 

o For those who have given birth at Ingleside, what were their experiences like? 

o Patient safety and incidents 

 Going Forward: Is there scope for wider utilisation of Ingleside? 

o Where are women getting their birth choices information from? 

o How do women feel about the amount of information they receive about birth choices? 

o Would more women choose Ingleside if it were an option for them? 

Data Sources used 
 
In collating the background and context of Ingleside, and in drafting the evaluation questions, the original 
commissioning documentation, and Service Specification documentation were the primary references alongside 
key stakeholder feedback. To answer the evaluation questions, a number of quantitative and qualitative sources 
were used, including:  

 Ingleside’s Activity Data Service KPI dashboards from April 2018 to March 2021 

 Ingleside’s Demographic Breakdown Summary (April 2018 to March 2021) 

 The Office for National Statistics (ONS) dataset “Births by parents’ characteristics” (November 2020) 

 An internal ‘Ingleside Incident Audit 3.4.18 to 23.11.20’ report  

 An engagement process on maternity services and choices conducted between the 1st November and 
1st December 2020, comprising of an online survey, which was completed by 106 respondents and a 
digital focus group session in which 4 women attended on 1st December 2020. Eligibility for the survey 
and focus group was that respondents were a Salford resident, and had either given birth in the last 12 
months or were currently pregnant.  

 A survey of Midwives in Salford conducted between the 1st and 11th November 2020, which was 
completed by 5 respondents 

 A survey of Doulas in Salford conducted between the 1st and 11th November 2020, which was completed 
by 6 respondents 

Page 42



3 
 

Part 1: Background and Development of Ingleside 
 
 
1.1 Background  
 
In April 2016, as part of the national implementation of Better Births, NHS Salford CCG together with Bolton and 
Wigan CCGs submitted a successful bid to become a National Maternity Pioneer, joining six other National 
Maternity Pioneers focusing on trailblazing new approaches to choice and personalisation in maternity care. 
Part of the successful bid included the CCG’s plans to develop a new Birth Centre and Community Hub and 
offered the opportunity to design and learn from new approaches to delivering maternity services that support 
the implementation of Better Births around widening choice of provider. 
 
Following a procurement process in 2017, Bolton NHS Foundation Trust (BFT) was commissioned as the lead 
provider to deliver birthing services from Ingleside Birth & Community Centre for all women within the Maternity 
Pioneer footprint of Bolton, Salford and Wigan. The service specification stated that the lead provider would 
work with commissioners to develop a service delivery model that would enable the other commissioned 
provider organisations within the conurbation to use the facility and maximise the capacity of the unit. 

 
1.2 Maternity Pioneer Collaborative Model 
 
The five maternity Pioneer collaborative providers are: 

 Bolton NHS Foundation Trust (BFT) 

 Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh NHS Foundation Trust (WWLFT) 

 Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WHHFT) 

 Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust (PAHT) 

 Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (MFT) 
 
The in-reach service delivery model promotes choice and personalisation for women and maximises utilisation 
of the birth centre to make the service successful and sustainable. The service model enables all Pioneer 
maternity providers to offer women the four choices of birth place as recommended in NICE Guidance ‘CG190: 
Intrapartum care for healthy women and babies’: home birth, free-standing midwife-led unit (FMU), alongside 
midwife-led unit (AMU) and obstetric unit (OU). The vision is one whereby all five provider organisations use the 
facility with their own midwives offering continuity of carer. 
 
In 2017 the Pioneer initiated a full roll out of Personal Maternity Care Budgets (PMCBs) in Bolton, Salford and 
Wigan (over 10,000 women have received the choice offer) and achieved recognition from the National 
Maternity Transformation Programme for being the only Pioneer to offer a true choice of provider organisation 
and the recommended four birth place settings to women as part of the PMCB programme.  The National 
Pioneer Programme ended on the 31st March 2019.  

 
 
1.3 Ingleside Birth and Community Centre 
 
Ingleside Birth and Community Centre opened on Tuesday 3 April 2018 to provide a local facility for women who 
want a midwife-led birth in Salford. The fully refurbished and modern, freestanding midwifery-led unit is the 
only one of its kind in Greater Manchester. Ingleside was refurbished at cost to Salford City Council based on the 
commitment of the City Mayor and political leads that babies would continue to be born in Salford. Salford City 
Council committed to providing a reduced rent arrangement for the unit until 2021 and have committed a 
further rent reduction until 2022. 
 
Ingleside offers maternity services to women in Salford, Bolton and Wigan as part of the Maternity Pioneer. The 
facility includes four birthing rooms each with a birthing pool and a range of birthing aids to support women to 
have a natural birth experience. Ultrasound scanning is available for scanning women during pregnancy and 
some women’s health – related care.  
 
As a community hub the Birth Centre hosts a variety of early years services to provide an early focus on delivering 
the best start to families. The centre also provides a community space for maternity and early years services 
such as: antenatal and postnatal groups, breastfeeding support and perinatal mental health support to ensure 

Page 43



4 
 

holistic care is provided to the women and her family. A range of community services are now being delivered 
including: 
 

 Scanning 

 GP ante natal clinics 

 Routine BFT antenatal clinics 

 Targeted early years services i.e. baby social 

 Stop smoking services 

 Hypno birthing sessions 
 
BFT have developed and recruited to a continuity team of midwives based at Ingleside to offer continuity of 
care, increase confidence and activity. 
 
It should be noted that an in-reach model of service delivery featuring multiple providers has not been tried or 
tested anywhere else. PAHT offered to be the first in-reaching organisation working with commissioners and 
BFT to develop and approve operating policies and the financial model. The first baby to birth at Ingleside Birth 
Centre using the In-reach model was born on 29 January 2019. 
  

Page 44



5 
 

Part 2: Outcomes  

2.1 Utilisation 

As set out in the Service Specification, there was a desire to utilise the maximum possible capacity of Ingleside 
through a collaborative service delivery model. To explore this objective, we have looked at key utilisation 
indicators across the April 2018 to February 2021 operational lifespan. 
 
Chart 1: Total bookings and deliveries at Ingleside Birth Unit by registered area of Patient 

 

Table 1: Registered area of Patient as Proportion of all bookings and deliveries to date 

SALFORD BOLTON WIGAN OTHER TOTAL 

Booked Delivered Booked Delivered Booked Delivered Booked Delivered Booked Delivered 

764 230 441 127 107 33 85 20 1397 410 

54.69% 56.10% 31.57% 30.98% 7.66% 8.05% 6.08% 0.01%   
 
The Chart and Table above break down the utilisation of Ingleside by locality of patients’ CCG registration.  

Chart 1 shows the numbers of women to date who have booked (defined as “Risk Assessed and booked to birth 

at Ingleside”) and the number delivered (defined as “given birth at Ingleside”) from April 2018 to date (February 

2021). Table 1 breaks this down into proportional representation of area by bookings and deliveries. 

As we can see from the data presented, the majority of Ingleside utilisation comes from Salford registered 

patients, representing 54.69% of all bookings, and 56.10% of all deliveries to date at Ingleside. Bolton is the next 

highest contributing locality, with Wigan and other areas representing a small proportion of utilisation. 

Data has not been available on the maximum capacity of Ingleside, particularly as this has fluctuated significantly 

during the Covid-19 pandemic, so it has not been possible to explore utilisation in the full depth originally 

intended.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



6 
 

2.1.1 Conversion 

Chart 2: Conversion of Bookings to Deliveries 

 

As we can see from the data above, not all women who book in to Ingleside end up delivering there. This is due 

to a number of reasons, for example a change of mind during pregnancy, medical complications in the pregnancy 

requiring a change to consultant-led care, or a medical transfer during the labour itself.  

Chart 2 above breaks this conversion down by area of registration, and by operational year. The conversion % 

indicates the proportion of bookings fulfilled through to delivery. The data illustrate that conversion is roughly 

one third of bookings which end in delivery at Ingleside, although this has fluctuated over the full period of 

activity. In FY20-21 however, we can see what appears to be a stabilisation in the proportion of fulfilled bookings 

across all areas. Data are not currently collected on reasons for bookings made which do not result in delivery 

at Ingleside; this would provide insight into whether this figure could be improved.  

2.1.2 Increasing rate of bookings 

Chart 3: C-Chart – Bookings at Ingleside (from all patient localities) 

 

Page 46



7 
 

Chart 3 above illustrates the number of bookings per month over time, for the history of Ingleside’s operational 

lifespan and from all locality sources. These data are presented in a Process Control count (‘C’) chart to explore 

any statistically significant patterns in the number of bookings being received. In interpreting these data, we can 

see three points of statistically significant movement. These are annotated as points A, B and C.  

Point A occurs in February 2019 and represents a shift in the average (mean) number of bookings per month 

from 27.42 to 39.13, an increase of 43%.  Point B in January 2020 saw another shift in the average, from 39.13 

to 54.5, representing a further increase of 39%. Point C is an “Astronomical point”; anomalous due to its being 

so far outside the anticipated control limits of standard variation.  

Upon exploring the potential reasons behind these significant increases in booking volumes with Ingleside staff, 

it was found that Point A co-incided with an expansion of the continuity of care agenda, and an increase in the 

number of midwives. Point B is believed to be the result of a change from an opt-in to an opt-out model for the 

use of Ingleside in low risk deliveries. It is notable that this increase has been maintained despite the impact of 

the COVID-19 pandemic interrupting this developing trajectory with a temporary closure of Ingleside to births.   

Chart 4: C-Chart – Deliveries at Ingleside (from all patient localities) 

 

Chart 4 above illustrates the number of deliveries per month over time, from all locality sources. These data are 

also presented in a Process Control count (‘C’) chart to explore any statistically significant patterns in the number 

of bookings being received. In interpreting these data, we can see two points of statistically significant 

movement. These are annotated as points A and B. 

Point A occurs in February 2019 and represents a shift in the average (mean) number of deliveries per month 

from 7.92 to 11.88, an increase of 50%.  As with the above data in Chart 2, Point A co-incided with an expansion 

of the continuity of care agenda, and an increase in the number of midwives, suggesting a significant impact of 

this initiative on the utilisation of Ingleside. Point B occurs in July 2020 and represents a shift in the average 

(mean) number of deliveries per month from 11.88 to 20.4, a significant further increase of 72%.  The shift seen 

at point B is believed to be the result of the change from an opt-in to an opt-out model for the use of Ingleside 

in low risk deliveries that occurred in January 2020. This change triggered an increase in bookings from January, 

as seen in Chart 2, and Chart 3 illustrates that the increased number of deliveries occurred as expected in the 

months after.  

 

2.1.3 Salford Sub-set 

Page 47



8 
 

As Ingleside is situated in Salford, and as one of its original aims was to provide a local birth option for women 

in the Salford area, we have also explored the patterns of utilisation in Salford registered patients. 

Chart 5: Bookings at Ingleside (from Salford registered patients) 

 

Chart 6: Deliveries at Ingleside (from Salford registered patients) 

 

The two Process Control count (‘C’) charts presented above illustrate the bookings and deliveries over time for 

the entirety of Ingleside’s operational lifespan in which the patients were registered under Salford CCG. 

In interpreting the booking data in Chart 5, we can see two points of statistically significant movement. Point A 

shows that a modest upwards shift occurred in the average number of bookings per month from January 2020, 

moving from an average of 18.42 per month to 20.13 per month. This represents an increase of 9%. Point B 

occurs in July 2020 and represents a further shift from 20.13 to 31.9, a significant increase of 58%. 

In interpreting the deliveries data in Chart 6, there have been no statistically significant shifts in the average 

number of deliveries each month for Salford registered patients, other than the consistently present 

‘Astronomical point’ A in August 2020. As the increase in average bookings seen in Chart 5 only occurred from 

July 2020, the activity data will need to be monitored further to see if this converts into a similarly significant 

increase in deliveries. 

2.2 Who is using Ingleside, and why? 

Page 48



9 
 

2.2.1 Demographic breakdown  

Two sets of data were available for exploring the demographics of Ingleside service users: Ethnicity, and Age. 

Chart 7: Births at Ingleside by Ethnicity, April 2018 – March 21 

 

Table 2: Births at Ingleside by Ethnicity, April 2018 – March 21 

Breakdown by Ethnicity 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 Total 

African 1.06% 0.00% 0.00% 0.25% 

Any other Asian background 0.00% 0.00% 1.74% 0.75% 

Any other ethnic group 0.00% 2.21% 0.00% 0.75% 

Any other mixed background 0.00% 1.47% 0.58% 0.75% 

Any other White background 2.13% 1.47% 1.16% 1.49% 

British 54.26% 54.41% 52.91% 53.73% 

Chinese 0.00% 0.00% 1.16% 0.50% 

Indian 1.06% 0.74% 0.58% 0.75% 

Irish 1.06% 0.00% 0.58% 0.50% 

Pakistani 0.00% 0.00% 0.58% 0.25% 

Not stated 28.72% 27.21% 34.30% 30.60% 

[Blank] 11.70% 12.50% 6.40% 9.70% 

 
There is a significant limitation to these ethnicity data in that there is a very high proportion of patients with 

ethnicity 'not stated' or 'blank' (40.3% total).  The data are also limited in that they do not follow standardised 

naming conventions for recording ethnicity; the stated ethnic categories in Table 2 are presented verbatim from 

data provided.  Unfortunately, these data quality issues mean that an accurate and meaningful analysis cannot 

be performed at this time.  

 

 

 

 

Chart 8: Births at Ingleside by Age, April 2018 – March 21 

Page 49



10 
 

 

Table 3: Births at Ingleside by Age, April 2018 – March 21 

Age group 2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 Total Regional Avg* 

<20 1.06% 0.74% 0.00% 0.50% 3.28% 

20-24 11.70% 14.71% 11.05% 12.44% 14.94% 

25-29 36.17% 30.88% 36.05% 34.33% 29.04% 

30-34 35.11% 36.76% 38.37% 37.06% 31.93% 

35-39 13.83% 16.91% 13.95% 14.93% 17.07% 

40-44 2.13% 0.00% 0.58% 0.75% 3.50% 

45+ 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.24% 
* ONS data, 2019, 'North West' Subset of All Live Births by age characteristics of mother 

Overall utilisation by age is relatively stable, aside from a recent increase in the proportion of mothers in the 30-

34 age groups. Further insight can be found when looking at the comparability of these rates of utilisation with 

the age-breakdown of all births in general. Data has been obtained from the Office of National Statistics (ONS) 

for all live births in 2019 within the North West of England, broken down by mother’s age group, and presented 

in the table above for comparison. These data suggest that the demographics of mothers giving birth at Ingleside 

are broadly representative of the general distribution of age ranges seen across all births in the region. There is 

a suggestion in the data of slight under-representation of younger and older mothers, however it is thought 

likely that this reflects more of the risk-profile of these births instead of an un-met need.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2.2 Choice of Birth location by Salford Neighbourhood 

Page 50



11 
 

Through the engagement process, we sought to understand whether the patients’ location within Salford led to 

any significant difference in their birth location choice.  

Table 4: First choice of place to birth, by Salford neighbourhood. 

FIRST CHOICE PLACE TO BIRTH (by neighbourhood) 

  Bolton 
Home 
Birth Ingleside 

North 
Mcr 

SRFT
* 

St 
Mary's Warr’ton W’shawe 

n= 

Eccles, Irlam & 
Cadishead 

4.8% 2.4% 16.7% 0.0% 2.4% 45.2% 21.4% 7.1% 42 

Walkden, 
Worsley, LH & 
Boothstown 

44.4% 0.0% 22.2% 0.0% 0.0% 33.3% 0.0% 0.0% 

18 

Swinton & 
Pendlebury 

27.3% 0.0% 45.5% 0.0% 0.0% 9.1% 0.0% 18.2% 11 

Broughton, 
Kersel & Irwell 
Riverside 

0.0% 25.0% 50.0% 25.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

4 

Ordsall & 
Claremont 

8.3% 0.0% 25.0% 0.0% 0.0% 58.3% 0.0% 8.3% 12 

* Respondent aware SRFT has no maternity unit, however wanted to state that it would’ve been their first choice if it did. 

Table 5: First Choice place to birth vs Actual place of birth 

 ACTUAL PLACE OF BIRTH 

FIRST CHOICE 
PLACE TO BIRTH Bolton 

Home 
Birth Ingleside 

North 
Mcr SRFT 

St 
Mary's Warr’ton W’shawe N/A* 

Bolton  42.9% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 14.3% 0.0% 0.0% 42.9% 

Home birth 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 50.0% 0.0% 0.0% 50.0% 

Ingleside 19.0% 0.0% 23.8% 4.8% 0.0% 14.3% 0.0% 0.0% 38.1% 

North Manchester  0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 

SRFT 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

St Mary's 3.0% 0.0% 0.0% 3.0% 0.0% 57.6% 0.0% 0.0% 36.4% 

Warrington 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 88.9% 0.0% 11.1% 

Wythenshawe 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 

*N/A refers to births yet to happen 

Table 4 above illustrates the proportional breakdown of first choice birth locations from respondents in each 

Salford neighbourhood. The right-hand column gives the total number of respondents from each area that these 

percentages are based on. It should be noted that there were not an equal number of respondents per 

neighbourhood, and that the sample size is still reasonably small, therefore these data should be seen as 

indicative and not conclusive. Table 5 illustrates these first choice birth locations against the eventual location 

of the birth.  

Geographically, respondents from areas furthest away from Ingleside seemed less likely to choose it as a birth 

location. This was somewhat anticipated as a result (see engagement data in Sec. 2.2.3 below), however this 

pattern does not carry over to other birth locations. For example, in Eccles, Irlam and Cadishead, many more 

respondents had opted for St Marys and Wythenshawe than Ingleside, despite these locations being much 

further for them to travel. In Ordsall and Claremont, the neighbourhood in which Ingleside is situated, only a 

quarter of respondents had chosen it. However in Swinton and Pendlebury, the next closest neighbourhood 

geographically, nearly half of respondents had opted for Ingleside. 

These data suggest that local variations in choices, and the reasons behind them, may benefit from being 

explored in more depth as part of any future development of Ingleside. 

2.2.3 Reasons for choosing Ingleside (Engagement) 

Page 51



12 
 

Through the engagement survey, we asked women who had either given birth at Ingleside, or were currently 

pregnant and had chosen Ingleside, why they had made this choice. A total of 21 of the 106 respondents had 

selected Ingleside, and gave a number of reasons behind their choice. 

Table 6: Reasons given by respondents who had or have chosen Ingleside for their birth 

Ingleside subset – Reasons for Choice  # occurences 

Natural /non-hospital environment 15 

It's the nearest (or easiest to get to) from my home 11 

I wanted my child to be born in Salford 5 

It has a good reputation /reviews 4 

The staff were friendly 4 

I liked the facilities 3 

Availability of a birthing pool 2 

Ability of partner and family to attend 2 

Previous good experience of other care there 2 

Previous bad experience somewhere else 2 

 
Responses to this question were thematically analysed, and grouped into common reasons for choice. Table 6 

above illustrates these themes. The most common reasons given for choosing Ingleside were it being a natural 

and non-clinical environment for birth (15) and its location and proximity to home (11) for the respondents. 5 

respondents reported that it was important to them for their child to be born in Salford.  

 

2.3 “Born in Salford” 

One element of the rationale in setting up Ingleside freestanding birthing unit was that it would provide an 

option for Salford residents to have their children born in Salford, following the closure of the Salford Royal unit 

in November 2011. We have explored the extent to which the establishment of Ingleside has impacted the 

number of births occurring in Salford, and have also used the engagement process to explore how powerful a 

motivating factor being “born in Salford” has on birth choices. 

Table 7: Births occurring in Salford 2016 – November 2020 

All Live Births to Salford Mothers Of which occurred (geographically) in Salford 

Year of birth Live births Ingleside % of all Home % of all Total % of all 

2016 3,724 0 0.00% 50 1.34% 50 1.34% 

2017 3,590 0 0.00% 49 1.36% 49 1.36% 

2018 3,568 71 1.99% 54 1.51% 125 3.50% 

2019 3,299 74 2.24% 52 1.58% 126 3.82% 

2020* 1,080 42 3.89% 10 0.93% 52 4.81% 

Grand Total 15,261       
* partial data as of 11/11/20 

Table 7 shows all live births to Salford registered mothers from 2016 to present (as of November 2020). In 2016 
and 17, a home birth was the only means through which a birth could happen in Salford. Since Ingleside was 
established in 2018, births there have increased year on year. This has happened alongside a small increase also 
occurring in home births.   
 
We can see that in 2017 (the last year prior to Ingleside being established) there were a total of 49 babies born 
in Salford. In 2019 (the last full calendar year of total data available at the time of this report), this number was 
126, representing a 70.3% increase. As the number of home births was very similar in 2019 to 2017 (52 and 49 
respectively), this increase can be wholly attributed to the impact of Ingleside.  

Page 52



13 
 

 
 

 
2.3.1 Does it matter to Salford women that their babies are born in Salford?  
 
As illustrated in Table 6 earlier, there were 5 respondents who had chosen Ingleside who had given “wanting my 

child to be born in Salford” as part of their reasoning for this choice. Of all 106 respondents to the survey, these 

were the only 5 respondents who gave this reason as an important factor for their choice of birth location, 

representing 4.7% of respondents and suggesting that this is in fact a minor consideration for most Salford 

women. The fact that all 5 of these respondents opted for Ingleside as their birth location however, suggests 

that it is fulfilling this need for the minority for whom it is an important factor.  

This question was explored further in the focus group that was held on 1st December 2020 with Salford women 

to do a “deep dive” into some of the reasoning behind birth choices. When asked whether giving birth in Salford 

was important to them, all of the participants fed back that they were themselves born in Salford and ideally 

would like their baby to be born in Salford, for example stating: “I was disappointed when Salford Royal stopped 

having a maternity unit.  All my family was born there and on our doorstep. I am proud of being a Salfordian”  

and “I would prefer to have my baby in Salford – it’s my roots really”. However, there was also a sense that 

although a Salford location would have been preferred, it wasn’t the most important factor in their discussion 

as to where to have their baby. Medical care was a priority, with hospital settings preferred for their sense of 

safety, as well as hearing advice from a trusted source such as friends and family sharing their own experiences 

of the different places on offer. In terms of location, ease of access was preferred to actual proximity in miles: 

“I’m worried about getting to either Bolton or St Mary’s in rush hour if that was needed. That bothers me more 

than baby not being born in Salford.” 

 

2.4 For those who have given birth, what were their experiences like? 

2.4.1 Service user experience (perception) 
 
The engagement survey gave us the opportunity to explore the experiences of those who had already given birth 
at Ingleside. Of the 21 respondents who had chosen Ingleside, only 6 had already given birth. None of the focus 
group participants had given birth already at Ingleside. This sample size therefore is very small, and the data 
should be seen as indicative rather than conclusive. 
 
Table 8: Would you recommend the place you gave birth to other women? 

 

Place of Delivery Yes No Total 

Bolton 9 75.00% 3 25.00% 12 

Ingleside 5 83.33% 1 16.67% 6 

North Manchester 2 100.00% 0 0.00% 2 

Royal Oldham 1 100.00% 0 0.00% 1 

St Mary's 24 88.89% 3 11.11% 27 

Warrington 8 100.00% 0 0.00% 8 

Wythenshawe 6 100.00% 0 0.00% 6 

 
Table 8 illustrates that 83% of respondents who had already given birth at Ingleside would recommend it to 
other women. This represents 5 out of 6 respondents. The one respondent who said no gave the reason “it is 
not the same as a hospital”, which suggests a likely misinterpretation of the purpose of Ingleside. 
 
 
 
Specific feedback comments from the survey included:  
#23 "Midwives were amazing , Facilities is amazing,  I literally could not fault the place!" 

Page 53



14 
 

#55 "Midwives were fantastic. Helped relax and reassure me." 
#83 "It’s a brilliant place." 
 
Although this small sample size does not allow us to draw any significant conclusions, the results are nonetheless 
positive and further collection of service user experience data may provide beneficial insight for the future 
development and promotion of Ingleside’s services.   
 
 

2.4.2 Patient Safety and Incidents 
 
An internal audit was conducted by Ingleside’s Consultant Midwife in November 2020, reviewing data from a 

period of the 3rd April 2018 to the 23rd November 2020. A summary of data from this audit is presented below. 

Chart 9: Number of Incidents reported at Ingleside by year, 2018 - 20 

 

Table 9: Total Incident data for report period April 18 – Nov 20 

 Number % Labours 

# Incidents: Clinical transfer related 133 27.31% 

            Maternal transfers 123 25.26% 

            Neonatal transfers 10 2.05% 

# Incidents: Non-clinical related 148  
Total # Incidents 281  
Total # Women admitted in labour 487  

 
Although the audit did not include complete data for 2020 (up to the end of November), chart 9 above suggests 

a likely reduction in overall incidents reported in 2020 from 2019. This will have been impacted, at least in part, 

by the Covid-19 pandemic and the fact that Ingleside was closed for 2.5 months from March 2020. However, as 

the utilisation data has shown, overall births have increased year-on-year despite the effects of the pandemic 

and so this does suggest a reduction in incidents being reported.  

Of the incidents reported in the period of April 2018 to November 2020, 148 were non-clinical in nature and 

largely related to estates management and security of the site. 133 clinical events were reported, which were 

all intrapartum transfers. There were no data available at the time of this report on any patient harm associated 

with these incidents. 

The rate of transfer from Ingleside was 27.31% overall, representing over 1 in every 4 labours admitted. The 

audit data showed that the majority of transfers were maternal (25.26% of all labours) with a smaller number 

that were neonatal (2.05% of all labours). There are no current, up-to-date data available on the average rates 

of transfers in labour from standalone maternity units with which to compare Ingleside to. However, a 2011 

Page 54



15 
 

study1 by the BMJ Birthplace in England Collaborative Group of 64,538 low-risk deliveries found that the rate of 

transfer from the 3 non-obstetric units studied varied based on whether it was the patients first baby. Women 

having their first babies had a much higher rate of transfer during or immediately after labour (36-45%) than 

those who were not first time mothers (9-13%). The data collected by Ingleside was not broken down in this 

manner. It may be beneficial in the future to explore Ingleside’s transfer rate in the context of first and successive 

births to generate a more accurate picture of how comparable this is to wider patterns in care. 

Table 10: Thematic Analysis of Reasons for Transfer 

Maternal Transfers 123  Neonatal Transfers 10 

Slow progress 43  Resuscitation  3 

Fetal Distress 23  Low Apgars 2 

Maternal MEOWS 18  Low Temperature 1 

Meconium 17  Dusky at 3 hours 1 

APH 3  Shoulder dystocia  1 

Pain Relief 3  Heart murmur 1 

SGA detected 3  Mum substance misuse 1 

Ketones 1    
PROM 1    
PN transfer 10    

 
 
As part of the audit, a thematic analysis was performed on the reasons for clinical incidents, all of which were 

intrapartum transfers. These themes are presented in table 10 above. Maternal transfers were predominantly 

due to slow progress (43), fetal distress (23), MEOWS (18) and meconium present (17). Neonatal transfers were 

few; resuscitation was the most frequent reason for neonatal transfer, however this represents a very small 

proportion of all labours with only 3 incidents in total over the period audited. 

Data on the preventability of these events was not available at the time of this report, nor was data on patient 

experience and clinical outcomes of those who are transferred out of Ingleside in labour.  

  

                                                           
1 BMJ ‘Birthplace in England Collaborative Group’ (2011) ‘Perinatal and maternal outcomes by planned place of birth for healthy women 

with low risk pregnancies: the Birthplace in England national prospective cohort study’, BMJ 343:d7400 doi: 10.1136/bmj.d7400 

Page 55



16 
 

Part 3: Is there scope for wider utilisation of Ingleside? 

When considering the utilisation of Ingleside, and in particular the increasing trajectory of bookings and 

deliveries seen in Section 2 of this report, we have looked specifically at how women are making their choices 

about birth location, what information is given to them to enable this choice, and whether there is potential for 

more of them to make the choice to birth at Ingleside.  

3.1 Where are women getting their birth choices information from? 

We used the engagement process to explore maternity information sources, and how women feel about the 

information they receive.  

Table 11: Sources of information on birth choices 

Where did you find out about your choices on where to have your baby? 

Answer Choice Response Percent Response Total 

 From a midwife 69.8% 74 

 Other (please specify): 16.0% 17 

 From a Website 15.1% 16 

 From a leaflet 10.4% 11 

 From a GP 4.7% 5 

 
Table 11 shows survey responses to the question of “where did you find out about your choices on where to 

have your baby?”.  There were several answers of “Other”, for which sources were given as: “the experiences of 

others” (5), “didn’t get a choice/was told” (5) and “on the registration form” (3). 

The most common source of information respondents gave for their birth choices was from their midwife 

(69.8%). 

 

3.2 How do women feel about the amount of information they receive about birth choices? 

Table 12 below shows results from the engagement survey question “Do you feel that you received enough 

information to help you decide where to have your baby?”. These results have been further broken down by 

whether the respondent was a first time mother, or had delivered before.  

Table 12: Do you feel that you received enough information to help you decide where to have your baby? 

 

1st Baby 
  

2nd+ 
  

All % All 

I don’t know / can’t remember 1 2.08% 2 3.45% 3 2.83% 

No - I did not feel informed enough about the 
options available to me 11 22.92% 8 13.79% 19 17.92% 

Partly - I had some information but would have 
liked more 18 37.50% 19 32.76% 37 34.91% 

Yes - I felt fully informed about the options 
available to me 18 37.50% 29 50.00% 47 44.34% 

Totals 48  58  106  
 

Page 56



17 
 

Of first time mothers, only 37.5% reported that they felt fully informed about the options available to them. This 

increased to 50% of 2nd+ mothers, and likely reflects their knowledge from prior experience. Overall, 44.34% of 

respondents felt fully informed, with 34.91% feeling ‘partly’ informed, and 17.92% not feeling informed enough 

at all.  

This was further explored in the focus group. Participants were asked how they felt about the choices they were 

given. They all reported feeling that the onus was on them to find the information rather than a professional 

offering them information to help them make a decision: “[I] didn’t get a leaflet or an e mail with links; I have 

had to research things myself.   I did expect an information pack and didn’t get one, was confused about why this 

is.” … “I would have expected to be given information too but didn’t. The information wouldn’t have to be paper, 

online would be fine.” 

The women also felt that they were asked to make a decision very early in their pregnancy without discussion 

or support:  “I phoned to register that I was pregnant and [was] asked where I wanted to give birth, I had no idea 

what the options were.” …“I felt pressured to make a decision”. … “I felt I got minimal information and [was 

asked to decide] too early in my pregnancy”. 

There is clearly a significant gap evident in the information women receive when pregnant about where they 

can choose to give birth, which is likely to affect the choices they make about where to give birth. 

Table 13: Preferred sources/methods for birth choices information 

If you would have liked more information, what information would you have liked 
and how would you prefer to have received it? 

All of the possible options given to me, and at one time 8 

A discussion about choices  instead of an information pack to self-interpret 6 

A breakdown of the important factors for each option 5 

More consistency in the information given / sources 4 

More time to consider the available options 2 

Explanation of "high"/"low" risk pregnancy and what it means for choices 1 

Online information 1 

Information about "in area" restrictions 1 

 
Table 13 above, taken from the engagement survey results, shows a thematic analysis of responses given to the 

question of “If you would have liked more information [about birth choices], what information would you have 

liked and how would you prefer to have received it?”  

The most frequently occurring themes were for all of the information to be presented at once and in one ‘pack’ 

(8), for an opportunity to have a discussion about this information to help them interpret it (6), and for the 

information to be clear about the main features and differences of each choice (5).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



18 
 

3.3 Are women consistently being offered Ingleside as a birth option? 

When considering the potential scope of further utilisation of Ingleside, it is important to explore whether it is 

consistently being offered as an option to expectant women, as under-offering would generally lead to under-

utilisation. 

Table 14: Reported birth choices offered 

During your pregnancy were you offered any of the following choices about where to have your baby? 
Please select all that apply. 

Answer Choice 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

 A choice of hospitals 72.9% 78 

 
Ingleside birth centre, which is a freestanding (away from a hospital) 
midwife led unit 

32.7% 35 

 A midwifery led unit or birth centre based in a hospital 29.9% 32 

 A consultant led unit for Doctor led maternity care 26.2% 28 

 Home birth 14.0% 15 

 I had no choices due to medical reasons 9.3% 10 

 I was not offered any choices 7.5% 8 

 Don’t know / can’t remember 3.7% 4 

 
The engagement survey asked respondents to confirm any and all options they were given about their choices 

in where to have their baby. Table 14 above illustrates that of all 106 repondents, only 35 (32.7%) reported that 

they were offered Ingleside as one of their options. The majority (72.9%) said that they had been offered a choice 

of hospitals. As only 26.2% reported having their choice narrowed to a Consultant-led unit, and only 9.3% given 

a set option for medical reasons, there is a suggestion that Ingleside is potentially being under-offered to the 

low risk population.  

This is further supported by suggestions from the survey undertaken of Doulas in Salford, who typically support 

low-risk births: “To be quite honest in the years I have been a doula, the Ingleside Stand Alone Unit hasn't come 

up as an option to give birth. The Ingleside needs to be much more widely promoted as being a safe and relaxed 

environment.” 

 

3.4 Would more women choose Ingleside if it were an option for them? 

To further explore whether utilisation at Ingleside has scope for increase, we must understand what likelihood 

of uptake increased offering of Ingleside might have. 

We began this by trying to understand through the engagement process what the overall influencing factors are 

in birth choices in general. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



19 
 

Table 15: Influencing factors for birth choices (all locations) 

What influenced your choice about where to have your baby?  
Please identify your top 3 from the list below: 

Answer Choice 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

 The distance from my home 39.25% 42 

 Friends and families views and experience 27.10% 29 

 I had my last baby there 27.10% 29 

 I felt that a birth in a hospital would be safer 27.10% 29 

 How the hospital/birth centre looked and the facilities there 18.69% 20 

 I had specific medical condition/s that meant I had to go to a hospital 16.82% 18 

 Reputation for good quality and safety at the hospital/birth centre 15.89% 17 

* Other (please specify): 11.21% 12 

 I required a caesarean section 10.28% 11 

 I wanted the most natural birth and environment 10.28% 11 

 Recommendation of my midwife / GP / Doctor 8.41% 9 

 I wanted my child to be born in Salford 8.41% 9 

 I wanted to have a full range of pain relief options 7.48% 8 

 Information from Social Media 3.74% 4 

 I wanted to give birth at home 1.87% 2 

 I wanted to be somewhere where my cultural/religious needs were understood 0.00% 0 
*The 12 “other” comments most frequently referred to Covid-19 pandemic restrictions and opting for locations where they 

would be permitted a birthing partner and/or family to attend. 

Table 15 above breaks down the influencing factors by frequency of occurrence. There were a range of factors 

involved in making the decision on where to birth, but the primary reasons given were “distance from home” 

(39.25%), “Friends and families views and experience” (27.10%), “I had my last baby there” (27.10%),  and “I felt 

that a birth in a hospital would be safer” (27.10%). 

Aside from “I felt that a birth in a hospital would be safer”, none of these reasons would immediately preclude 

Ingleside as a birth choice. 

We also asked outright if more respondents would choose Ingleside (a freestanding midwifery led unit) if it was 

offered as a safe option for them. 

Table 16: Likelihood of choosing Ingleside if advised safe 

If your midwife or doctor advised that it would be safe for you to give birth in a freestanding midwifery 
led unit or birth centre such as Ingleside, how likely is it that you would choose this option? 

Answer Choice Response Percent Response Total 

1 Highly likely 31.8% 34 

2 Likely 21.5% 23 

3 Unlikely 18.7% 20 

4 Highly Unlikely 14.0% 15 

5 Don’t know 14.0% 15 

 

Table 16 above illustrates the breakdown of responses to this question in the survey. The majority of responses 

were positive, with a total of 53.3% saying that it would be ‘likely’ or ‘highly likely’ if they were offered Ingleside 

as a safe option for them. A total of 34.7% gave negative responses (‘unlikely’ or ‘highly unlikely’) and 14% said 

they currently did not know. 

Page 59



20 
 

When we consider that 32.7% of respondents reported being offered Ingleside (Section 3.2), but that 53.3% of 

respondents would choose if it offered, the survey data does suggest that there is scope for higher uptake should 

more women be given the option of birthing at Ingleside. 

There may also be scope to increase the willingness of choosing Ingleside. We explored the rationale behind 

these answers; Tables 17 and 18 below give a thematic breakdown of answers grouped by positive responses 

(“Likely” or “Highly likely”) and negative responses (“Unlikely” or “Highly unlikely”).  

Table 17: Thematic analysis of "Likely" or "Highly Likely" Answers’ Reasons Given 

"Likely" or "Highly Likely" 

A more calming / comfortable experience 7 

I want to give birth in a natural / less clinical environment 6 

I was impressed with the facilities 3 

I have already given birth there  2 

My previous pregnancy and delivery had no complications 2 

It's nearest to me 1 

 

Table 18: Thematic analysis of "Unlikely" or "Highly Unlikely" Answers’ Reasons Given 

"Unlikely" or "Highly Unlikely" Answers 

Want the assurance of hospital facilities if something goes wrong 26 

Previous complications/traumatic birth 14 

Would not want to go to BRH if transfer needed 3 

I have been told I am too high risk for Ingleside 3 

A Hospital has more pain relief options 2 

I require/d a C-section 2 

I have been told my BMI is too high 1 

 
As we can see from the results displayed above, the respondents who gave a negative response were more 
forthcoming about their (often multiple) reasons than the positive respondents were. This gives us an 
incomplete picture but does give some important insight, in particular to the negative answers. 
 
For those unlikely or highly unlikely to choose Ingleside, even if it were offered as a safe option for them, the 
perceived risk “if anything goes wrong” was a very commonly given reason (26), especially if they had 
experienced previous complications or had a traumatic experience in a prior birth (14).  
 
This was also further explored through the focus group, which echoed many of the sentiments about prioritising 
perceived safety and medical risk (“The natural setting would be nice but it wouldn’t bother me to be in a medical 
setting for safety’s sake.”) and also repeated another much lesser survey theme that any potential transfer 
would be to a hospital that was not their first choice (“[I’m] planning a visit to Ingleside but concerned that if 
something happened, a transfer would be to Bolton not St Mary’s”… “I visited Bolton hospital but I didn’t like, it, 
it didn’t feel like a good place to be. That influenced my decision in terms of Ingleside.”) 

 
Only 3 response themes (6 total occurrences) gave medical reasons why they couldn’t opt for Ingleside. The 

majority of reasons given were emotive in nature, largely fear-related, and whilst this is a powerful motivator, it 

does suggest that there may be some scope at least for further uptake in this group if sufficient information or 

assurance could be given to them about their safety. 

Page 60



21 
 

We explored this potential in the Survey for Midwives in Salford, asking them “Have you any ideas on how we 

could increase the numbers of women opting to give birth at Ingleside?” Comments included:  

 “re introduce coffee morning or open evenings as soon as possible”  

  “posters in midwife clinical areas such as GPs and antenatal clinic at the hospital.  

 “Promotion. All departments to support and recommend Ingleside where appropriate.” 

  “Ensure that it is discussed with all women and booking and again at 36/40.” 

 “Information sheet/advert in green antenatal notes to include statists around the 'safety' of Ingleside 

(i.e. no of NVD, no of transfers, analgesia options) as a lot of women fear Ingleside in view of the transfer 

but have a limited understanding that transfer is rarely required.”2 

 “Better advertisement and promotion in surrounding areas” 

 “more flexibility on women who can birth at Ingleside”  

 “better promotion by community midwives” 

 “birth centre being shut less regularly so a more positive reputation is generated in local community.” 

 “stop closing Ingleside so often due to staffing at Bolton Hospital, this is decreasing the number of births 

but also putting women off booking to birth here as they are hearing from other people that it regularly 

closes” 

  

                                                           
2 Ingleside transfer rate is 1 in 4 births  

Page 61



22 
 

Part 4: Conclusions and Recommendations 

4.1 What has been the utilisation of Ingleside, and how has this developed over time? 
 
The Maternity Pioneer model had a footprint of Bolton, Salford and Wigan. The service specification stated that 

the lead provider would work with commissioners to develop a service delivery model that would enable the 

other commissioned provider organisations within the conurbation to use the facility and maximise the capacity 

of the unit. Overall utilisation to date has primarily reflected the 3 pioneer partners, although Wigan has been 

the least represented area by a significant degree: Salford represented 54.69% of bookings and 56.10% of 

deliveries, Bolton 31.57% of bookings and 30.98% of deliveries, and Wigan 7.66% of bookings and 8.05% of 

deliveries to date. Service use outside of this locality footprint has been minimal, with 6.08% of bookings but 

only 0.01% of deliveries to date. 

The conversion of bookings through to delivery experienced some variation across source localities in the first 

two years of activity. However, this appears to have stabilised across all localities over the last year, with an 

average of 31% of bookings resulting in a delivery at Ingleside in FY 20-21. There are a number of potential 

reasons why an initial booking at Ingleside might not result in an eventual delivery there, many of which will be 

clinical in nature and unavoidable. However, now that the conversion rate appears to have settled, there may 

be benefit in exploring the reasons behind those two thirds of bookings that have not resulted in a delivery to 

establish if this rate could be improved, and if so, how. 

Overall bookings and deliveries have each seen two statistically significant shifts upwards in activity over the last 

3 years: average bookings increased by 43% from February 2019, and again by a further 39% from January 2020; 

average deliveries increased by 50% from February 2019 and again by a further 72% from July 2020. 

Upon exploring the potential reasons behind these increases in booking volumes (through direct consultation 

with Ingleside leadership), it was found that the early shifts in 2019 co-incided with an expansion of the 

continuity of care agenda, and an increase in the number of midwives.  Later changes in 2020 were thought to 

be the outcome of a system change from an opt-in to an opt-out model for the use of Ingleside in low risk 

deliveries, which occurred in early 2020. The resulting improvements in data suggest that these changes were 

of significant impact, and may benefit from write-up and dissemination.  

It is particularly notable that these increases have been maintained despite the impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic interrupting this developing trajectory with a temporary closure of the Ingleside unit. Overall, this 

improvement and resilience are a significant achievement for those involved in the delivery of Ingleside. 

There is a limitation to exploring utilisation fully due to lack of data on operational capacity, which has also been 

impacted by the pandemic. This would provide valuable insight in terms of the scope or limitations for any future 

growth, as well as providing critical information for any future contract or financial review. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. Feedback the data on recent significant growth in bookings and deliveries to the staff involved 

to celebrate their success.  

2. Consider a write-up of the successful changes made to the service delivery model 

3. Explore the reasons behind the 69% of bookings that do not result in a delivery at Ingleside to 

gauge whether this could be improved, and if so how. 

4. Future evaluation/s to measure utilisation against capacity level data, when available. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62



23 
 

4.2 What has been the local, Salford, utilisation? 
 
The data have illustrated that the majority of Ingleside utilisation has come from Salford registered service users, 

representing 54.69% of all bookings, and 56.10% of all deliveries to date. In reflecting on Ingleside’s initial 

establishment as the sole delivery option (other than home births) within the Salford locality, and its aim to 

provide a means for parents to choose to have their babies “born in Salford”, it is highly encouraging to see that 

more than half of the births taking place at Ingleside have been to local Salford residents.  

When looking at the patterns of Salford-resident utilisation over time, bookings had remained relatively stable 

for the first 2 years, with no statistically significant changes in the rate of these bookings. The last year’s activity 

however, saw two statistically significant shifts in the average numbers of bookings made by Salford residents, 

with a modest 9% increase from January 2020 and a more substantial increase of 58% from July 2020. Delivery 

numbers have been consistently stable, with no statistically significant shifts in the average number of deliveries 

each month for Salford registered patients throughout the period evaluated. However, as the significant increase 

in average bookings for Salford residents only occurred from July 2020, the activity data would need to be 

monitored further to see if this converts into a similarly significant increase in deliveries. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

5. Continue to monitor and explore Salford-resident data, in particular to ensure the more recent 

increase in bookings converts to an equivalent rise in deliveries. 

 

 

 

4.3 Who is using Ingleside and why? 
 
Data on the usage demographics of Ingleside have been limited. There is a significant limitation to ethnicity data 

specifically, in that there is a very high proportion of records with ethnicity recorded as either 'not stated' or 

'blank' (40.3% combined total). This lack of data means that analysis on how representative the Ingleside service 

user profile is of the local communities it serves is unfortunately not possible at this time.  

Ethnicity data are also limited in that they do not follow standardised naming conventions for the recording of 

ethnicity categories, which means they are not easily comparable with official statistics or other comparative 

data sets. It is highly recommended that collecting of ethnicity data moves from locally defined categories to the 

classifications set out in the Office of National Statistics guidelines: “Measuring equality: A guide for the 

collection and classification of ethnic group, national identity and religion data in the UK” (ONS 2021). 

This lack of data creates a ‘blind spot’ for Ingleside in terms of understanding uptake and provision of services 

across representative population groups in Salford and the wider conurbation; this generates a risk of widening 

health inequalities. It is highly recommended that future development of Ingleside includes a focus on improving 

data quality to provide accurate and insightful information into the demographic breakdown of service 

utilisation. This will allow for targeted intervention, communications and engagement to be conducted if and 

where inequalities are found to be present. 

Age data has been available, and suggest that the demographics of mothers giving birth at Ingleside are broadly 
representative of the general distribution of age ranges seen across all births in the North West region. There is 
a suggestion in the data of slight under-representation of younger and older mothers; it is likely however that 
this reflects more about the risk-profile of these births and the impact this has on their eligibility to birth at 
Ingleside, rather than an indication of any specific un-met need. 
 

Page 63



24 
 

Utilisation of Ingleside by Salford neighbourhood shows a local variation not corresponding to geographical 

proximity to the Ingleside birth unit. This may benefit from being explored in more depth as part of any future 

development of Ingleside. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

6. Ethnicity to be more frequently recorded, using classifications set out by the Office of National 

Statistics (ONS) for comparability and clarity 

7.  A ‘deep-dive’ to be conducted into local Salford neighbourhood variation in use of Ingleside 

 

 

 

4.4 What are the reasons given for choosing Ingleside? 
 
We explored this question through the engagement survey and focus group, to ask women who had either given 
birth at Ingleside, or were currently pregnant and had chosen Ingleside about the reasons behind their choice; 
a total of 21 women met this criteria. 
 
The most common reason given for choosing Ingleside was to give birth in “a natural and non-clinical 
environment” (15 respondents). This is one of Ingleside’s primary objectives in the choice it represents as an out 
of hospital, standalone unit. Other frequently given reasons included its “location and proximity to home” (11) 
and that it was important to them for their child to be “born in Salford” (5). These are positive indicators that 
Ingleside is providing a locality-based option for those who want to give birth close to home. 
 
The sample size analysed here was very small, so these findings should be seen as indicative rather than 
conclusive. However, the main reasons we were given by women who chose Ingleside are broadly in line with 
the service aims of Ingleside, and can be seen as a positive indication that these aims are being fulfilled.  
 
 
4.5 Has the establishment of Ingleside changed birth behaviours in Salford? 
 
Following the closure of Salford Royal’s maternity unity in November 2011, a home birth was the only means 
by which parents could choose to deliver their child within Salford. 
 
In 2017 (the last full calendar year of data prior to Ingleside being established) there were a total of 49 babies 
born in Salford. The number of home births has remained stable year on year since. However, in 2019 (the last 
full calendar year of data available at the time of this report), the total number of births taking place in Salford 
was 126, representing a 70.3% increase.  
 
As we can see from the data, this increase in births at Ingleside has added to – and not detracted from – the 
number of home births taking place in the locality. This strongly suggests that there is a demand for a 'middle 
ground' option between home births and hospital-based settings that Ingleside is fulfilling. Although the total 
proportion of babies being born to Salford mothers within Salford is still relatively low, the introduction of 
Ingleside has significantly contributed to an increasing number of babies being born within the locality to local 
mothers. 
 
 
4.6 Does it matter to women that their babies are born in Salford? 
 
The consultation survey, which was conducted with 106 Salford-based women who were either currently 
pregnant or had given birth in the last 12 months, yielded little evidence that their babies being "born in Salford" 
was an important factor in choosing where  to give birth. Of far more importance to respondents was the 
perception of safety, and the views and experiences of their family and friends.  
 
This question was explored further in the focus group. The group were open about their expectations and fears 
around the choices they made about where to birth. One point raised by several participants in this discussion 
was that although they would like “a Salford birth”, choosing Ingleside would not guarantee them this as a 

Page 64



25 
 

transfer in labour was a possibility. Participants also raised concerns that should a transfer occur, they would 
then lack any choice or control about where their child was born and may even be transferred to a hospital they 
specifically did not want to give birth at.  Participants therefore believed that they were best making their choice 
based on other factors than a Salford location, even though it was a “nice to have”. This poses a challenging 
problem, as although this sample size was small, similar themes were echoed in the wider survey, and it is 
reasonable to assume that this fear may be shared by a number of other parents in the locality. This may be a 
limiting factor in parents’ consideration of Ingleside.  
 
 

4.7 For those who have given birth at Ingleside, what were their experiences like? 
 

There is limited service user feedback available from Ingleside, and although the consultation exercise generated 

feedback from 21 women who had chosen Ingleside, only 5 had already given birth there. This feedback was 

strongly positive in terms of the reported patient experience at Ingleside, however it is a very small sample size. 

Further collection of service user experience data may provide beneficial insight for the future development and 

promotion of Ingleside’s services.   

The rate of transfer from Ingleside in labour is 27.31% overall. This represents over 1 in every 4 active labours 

admitted. Presently, there are not sufficient data available on current transfer rates in general from maternity 

units with which to judge whether this rate is higher or lower than anticipated. Research from 2011 suggests 

that first time births generate a significantly higher rate of transfer than successive births. It may be beneficial 

in the future to break down and explore Ingleside’s transfer rate in this context to generate a more accurate 

picture of how comparable this is to wider patterns in care. 

The audit data showed that all of the 133 clinical incidents recorded in the 3 year period covered were 

intrapartum transfers: maternal (25.26% of all labours) and a smaller number of neonatal (2.05% of all labours). 

Maternal transfers were predominantly due to slow progress (43), fetal distress (23), MEOWS (18) and 

meconium present (17). Critically, there were no data available on any harm/s associated with these incidents; 

this categorisation will be necessary in order to understand the impact and severity of any clinical incidents 

occurring. 

Given the system pressures, in particular on North West Ambulance Service, these themes may benefit from 

further investigation such as Root Cause Analysis to explore whether any of these were preventable, and 

whether there is any learning that can be applied further upstream prior to admission in labour.   

It would also be beneficial to explore the patient experience and clinical outcomes of those who are transferred 

out of Ingleside in labour. This is an area that we have not been able to explore in this report due to lack of 

available data, however is a critical consideration in determining the overall impact of Ingleside. This may be an 

activity that the CCGs, in particular the Quality directorates, can work together on to co-ordinate between and 

across providers. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

8. Regular collection of service user experience data to be implemented and standardised to 

generate actionable information for the service.  

9. Data collected on intrapartum transfers to include a breakdown of nulliparous and 

multiparous, and whether harm occurred (if so, what type) 

10. Reviews to be conducted on transfers to generate lessons learned, either for the service itself 

or for linked services ‘upstream’ to the benefit of service users. 

11. Commissioners to explore how best to co-ordinate data on service user experience of transfers 

 
 
 

Page 65



26 
 

 
4.8 Going Forward: Is there scope for wider utilisation of Ingleside? 
 
4.8.1 Information on choices 

 
There was a low level of satisfaction reported with the quality, frequency and format of information provided 

on birth choices. Fewer than half of the 106 women surveyed said that they felt fully informed about their birth 

choices, and only a third reported being offered Ingleside as one of their options. The answers given around the 

forms and sources of information suggest there is currently a significant variation in the level and detail of the 

information given to pregnant women across the locality, and that much of this is currently determined by the 

GP or Midwife providing it. This suggests that there is significant scope for improvement in the information given 

during pregnancy through reducing this variation. 

Respondents suggested a range of improvements that could be made to enable them to make an informed 

choice about where to give birth. This could in turn increase utilisation of Ingleside as women feel fully equipped 

and enabled to make this choice, particularly if they have no prior knowledge of the unit, or it is a not a location 

that their family and friends (as the main source of information given) have experience of. The most frequently 

occurring recommendations from respondents were: for all of the information on birth choices to be presented 

at once in a standardised ‘pack’;  for there to be an opportunity to have a discussion about this information to 

help them interpret it;  for the information to be clear about the main features and differences of each choice. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

12. Review and standardise the information provided about birth choices in early pregnancy, 

taking into account the feedback above. 

 
4.8.2 Scope for Ingleside uptake if offered 
 
We explored the potential uptake for Ingleside through the consultation survey of Salford-resident women who 

were currently pregnant or had recently given birth. Of the 106 respondents, only 32.7% of respondents 

reported being offered Ingleside as an option during their pregnancy, however 53.3% of respondents reported 

that they would choose (or have chosen) it if was offered to them as a safe option. This strongly suggests that 

there is scope for higher uptake should more women be given the option of birthing at Ingleside. This gap could 

be addressed through the recommendations around standardising available information in section 4.8.1 above. 

Of the 34.7% of respondents who said they were unlikely or highly unlikely to choose Ingleside, even if it were 
offered as a safe option for them, the primary theme that emerged from their comments was the perceived risk 
of what would occur “if something goes wrong”. Whilst fear is known to be a powerful motivator, this does 
suggest that there may be some scope for further uptake if more persuasive information or assurance could be 
given about the safety of giving birth at Ingleside. 

 
We also explored the question of further utilisation of Ingleside in the survey conducted with Midwives in 

Salford.  Respondents did feel that uptake could be increased, and gave a number of suggestions around 

improvements to promotional materials and activities, embedding discussions in processes, the types of 

information and data women might take safety assurance from,  and generating a good relationship with the 

community. This evidences a considerable resource of ideas within the Midwifery workforce, which would 

benefit from further consultation and generation of improvement ideas for the service. These ideas may also 

benefit from implementation and testing through use of Quality Improvement methodologies. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

13. Review midwives suggestions for increasing uptake in Section 3.4, and explore how some of 

these could be implemented through Quality Improvement initiatives. 

 

Page 66



27 
 

Part 5: Summary and Next Steps 

Ingleside Birth and Community Centre, a free-standing midwifery-led unit, became operational just over three 
years ago, offering women in Salford and beyond, the option of the four birth choices as recommended by NICE.  
This evaluation of the impact and outcomes of this innovative new delivery model, from a quality and patient 
experience perspective, highlights a number of key messages: 
 

 There are increasing bookings and deliveries at the centre, maintained despite the impact of COVID-
19, with 54.69% of bookings and 56.10% of deliveries to Salford registered service users 

 Age demographics of mothers giving birth at Ingleside are broadly representative of the general 
distribution of age ranges across all births in the North West region, although data on other 
demographic factors is lacking 

 The centre is seen as offering ‘a natural and non-clinical’ setting, with location also being an 
important influencing factor in choice 

 The introduction of Ingleside has significantly contributed to an increasing number of babies being 
born within Salford to local mothers, although ‘being born in Salford’ did not emerge as an important 
factor in choosing where to give birth 

 Service user feedback is generally positive, although there is more work to do on this area 

 The need for standardised, readily-available information is key and further work is needed to increase 
uptake 

Section 4 of the evaluation report makes 13 recommendations to inform the future development of the service. 
These need to be considered by the provider and commissioners and used to develop an action plan over 
2021/22. The Ingleside Steering Group will oversee this, reporting to the Children & Young People’s 
Commissioning Group, Children’s Commissioning Committee and Quality Reference Group as appropriate. 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Briefing Paper Title:  SEND Activity Assurance  
 
Date:  28/06/2021 
Prepared By: Geoff Catterall 
Key Areas  
 
Almost 17% of children and young people in Salford have an identified special educational need and/or disability (SEND). These range from 
the most severe to comparatively minor and are identified under four broad areas of need in the SEND Code of Practice: 

 Communication and interaction 
 Cognition and learning 
 Social emotional and mental health difficulties 
 Sensory and/or physical needs 

 
The Ofsted/CQC SEND Inspection highlighted many strengths across local systems (reported January 2020) and confirmed local self-
evaluation  areas for development.  A combined SEND Action Plan comprises the key activity arising from 

1. SEND Inspection 
2. SEND Strategy Priorities 

a. Clear Pathways and better outcomes 
b. Raising aspirations and pathways to independence 
c. Sufficient range of quality provision 
d. Clear communication and participation with SEND families  

3. Residual actions form JSNA 2018 
 
The Action Plan is monitored by the SEND Partnership Board and a summary is set out below. As the Plan is due to complete this year, the 
Board will consider the impact of the past 15 months on progress and report on priorities for 2022 to 2024  
 
Key Risks 
Salford faces an anticipated and unprecedented demand of applications for education health and care plans (EHCPs) as SEND families’ 
struggles have been amplified over the last 15 months.  Salford currently maintains 2419 EHCPs (up from 2155 in 2019).  The total number 

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 8



of EHCPs has increased each year since the Children and Families Act became law in 2014. There were 350 requests for assessments 
made in 2020 (up from 323 in 2019). Projections are for an anticipated 350 to 400 new requests in 2021. Rising demand is impacting upon 
budgets with significant pressures on the High Needs Block of DSG.  
 
The challenges for services are to not only meet statutory timeframes for contributing to EHC assessments but also to contribute to the 
effective delivery of provision described in EHCPs and based upon their assessment advice.   
 
 Early identification and assessment may have suffered during the past 15 months as children were not in school and possibly with less 
access to universal health services.  The relaxation of legislative duties for SEND during 2020 have contributed to longer assessment 
periods and a protracted period in commissioning provision.   66% of assessments were completed and Plans issued in the statutory 20 
weeks timeline in 2020 (down from 93% in 2019 but better than the national average of 58%) 
 
There were 40 Tribunal appeals in 2020, the highest annual figure recorded and an increasing number came under the National trial in 
which the health and care provisions in EHCPs can be challenged.  Improved dispute resolution systems have seen a sharp fall so far this 
year (11 to date). 
 
 
 
The Government review into SEND is due to report this summer on how the system has evolved since 2014, how it can be made to work 
best for all families and ensure consistently high-quality provision. It will also explore the role of health care in SEND in collaboration with 
the DHSC. It is likely that real structural changes will be proposed to SEND systems so Salford is anticipating change by streamlining and 
refining applications and assessment processes as well as ensuring an equitable quality and sufficiency of provision across the City.  
 
Salford’s overarching approach to SEND continues to focus on respecting choice and aspiration, being kind whist being honest about 
expectations.  
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 70



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEND Strategy - High Level Action plan 2019-2021;  SEND Inspection Areas for Development;  JSNA actions  

  

 

    
 

   

SRO:  Cathy Starbuck (Chair of SEND Partnership Board) 
    

  

 

    

 

 

P
age 71



  

 

    
      

R
A
G 

  

St
ar
t 

Da
te 

End 
Date 

        

Priority  

Origin: 
SEND 
Strategy, 
OFSTED, 
JSNA 

Activity 

Lead 
officer  

1.Clear pathways and 
better outcomes 

SEND, 
OFSTE
D 

  

        
              
a. Co-produce a 
reinvigorated and clearly 
defined  graduated 
approach to SEN Support 
-"SEND Thrive" 

SEND, 
OFSTED   
grad 
resp 

EPS led Consultation event on refreshed  graduated approachto SEN support  with  
school leaders ( headteachers and school SENCOs) 

  
Claire 

Jackson 

N
ov
-

19 

Laun
ched 
Autu

m 
2020 

  
grad 
resp 

Consultation with parents on 'parent friendly version' and with young people on a 
'young people's' version.  

  
Claire 

Jackson 

N
ov
-

19 
Mar-

21 

  
grad 
resp  

Salford's refreshed graduated approach published on local offer alongside 
parent/young person version 

  
Claire 

Jackson 

Ja
n-
20 

Jan-
21 

  
grad 
resp 

Graduated approach  embedded via working with leaders and SENCOS,  utilising the 
cluster model using 'super planning meetings' with EPS, LSS and Health colleagues. 
Team around the School.    

Claire 
Jackson 

Ja
n-
20 

Dec-
21 

P
age 72



b. Implement a SEND 
profile framework for 
schools and settings to 
self assess SEND 
provision  

peer 
reviewers  

Training for school staff to undertake SEN peer reviews  to include  moderation of SEN 
registers 

  
Madeline 
Metcalfe 

Ap
r-
20 

ongo
ing 

  
peer 
reviewer
s  

Peer reviews to commence across schools  

  
Madeline 
Metcalfe 

Se
p-
20 

ongo
ing 

  
peer 
reviewer
s  

Key learning from peer reviews to inform training offered to SENCOs, cluster and super 
planning meetings   

  
Madeline 
Metcalfe 

Ja
n-
21 

ongo
ing 

  
peer 
reviewer
s  

Evaluation report to focus on impact, key learning and next steps  to be shared with the 
board  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Se
p-
21 

ongo
ing 

c.Improving outcomes for 
mainstream SEND children 
and young people 

OFSTED,  
grad 
resp 

Develop mainstream schools in providing consistent support to children and young 
people with SEND through the Graduated Response and training 

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Ja
n-
21 

ongo
ing 

  

OFSTED, 
JSNA  
transitio
n  

Transitions policies.   Transitions work from Alderbrook focussed on SEND.   Wider 
transitions stratgey work across education , health and care (New policy and 
procedures) 

  

Caitlin 
Chapman 

/Geoff 
Catterall 

Ap
r-
20 

ongo
ing 

d. Further develop the 
transition process for 
students and young people 
with SEND 

OFSTED 
transitio
n 

Develop a comprehensive multiagency transition approach which includes a health 
pathway from paediatrics to adult services  

  

Debbie 
Blackbur

n / 
Michelle 
Morris / 
Alison 
Pike 

De
c-
19 

ongo
ing 

P
age 73



e. Develop an outcomes 
framework to inform the 
effectiveness of 
education, health and 
care provision for SEND 
which is linked to quality 
assurance processes.  

SEND   
outcome
s 

 Outcomes Framework for all provisions to be developed  - being developed alongside 
schools as part of Enhanced Resource Quality assurance. 

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Se
p-
19 

Com
plete 

  
 
outcome
s  

Agreed Outcomes framework in place enabling consistent analysis of outcomes  
including  the destinations for the YP to be utilised accorrs all relevant provisions   

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

M
ar-
20 

ongo
ing 

  
outcome
s  

Moderation of use of outcomes frameworks by Teaching school 

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

M
ay
-

20 
ongo
ing 

  
outcome
s  

To be utilised in peer review process and inform recommendations for challenge and 
support  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Se
p-
20 

ongo
ing 

  QA  

GM Quality assurance  process of Independent provisions to commence to inform 
improving quality support and challenge with providers and  placement decision making  

  

Geoff 
Catterall/
Amanda 
Corcoran  

Ja
n-
20 

Com
plete 

f. To develop more robust 
and less generic health 
ouctomes 

OFSTED   
outcome
s  

 Therapy services including speech and language, occupational therpay and physiotherapy to 
identify suitable outcome measurement tools to demonstrate impact 

  

Michelle 
Morris / 

Eejay 
Whitehea

d 

De
c-
19 

ongo
ing 

P
age 74



1a.Publish clear 
pathways showing 
how parents and 
young people access 
particular services 
e.g. neuro,  
healthcare, short 
breaks, personal 
budgets 

SEND 

  

        

g. Neurodevelopmental 
pathway 

SEND   
Pathway  

Neuro developmental pathway review underway, work is building on the pathfinder 
project and Peterborough models to develop a more integrated approach to support for 
families pre-diagnosis, on the diagnostic pathway and post diagnosis. The pilot will test 
more integrated working across CAMHS and Community Paediatrics, with support from 
dedicated nursery nurses who will make guided detailed assessments , involve parents 
in decision making and develop a more asset based approach to response and support 
for families earlier in their journey. This is based on parental engagement and feedback 
as part of the Expert Reference Group and parental involvement in the Neuro task and 
finish group.   

  Debbie 
Blackbur

n 

Ju
n-
19 

Dec-
20 

  pathway 
Revised pathway in place by Feb 20 

  

Debbie 
Blackbur

n 

Fe
b-
20 

Feb-
20 

P
age 75



h. Personal budgets  
SEND 
personal 
budget  

Develop/test  the individual budget approach. As soon as families identify needs as 
part of the multi agency discussion, families will be supported to identify solutions for 
the family to support interventions to manage their needs.   

  

Debbie 
Blackbur
n/Geoff 
Catterall 

M
ar-
21 

Dec-
21 

  
 
personal 
budget  

Audit to be undertaken to identify what works well and what doesn’t  

  

Debbie 
Blackbur
n/Geoff 
Catterall 

De
c-
19 

Mar-
21 

  
 
personal 
budget  

New policy guidance in place to support more appropriate personal budgets; multi 
agency meetings, parental feedback, internal audit and professional views to develop 
an approach to personalisation which moves away from traditional service responses 
to a more tailored package, utilising personal health budgets, direct payments and 
transforming care resource to ensure families feel supported in decision makin 

  

Debbie 
Blackbur

n 

M
ar-
20 

Dec-
21 

  
personal 
budgets  

Monitor impact of use of personal budgets and agree next steps - SEND Board item 

  

Debbie 
Blackbur

n 

N
ov
-

20 
Dec-
21 

i. Continuing health care 
and short breaks 

SEND     

Link to Grant thornton work  - GM    Is CHC understood across the partnership?  Short 
breaks- sufficientcy - GM work  

  

Debbie 
Fallon/Vi

cky 
Hall/Geof

f 
Catterall 

M
ar-
21 

Dec-
21 

              

P
age 76



2. Continue to raise 
aspirations for 
independence  

SEND, 
OFSTE
D, 
JSNA 

  

        
              
a. Further develop 
opportunities for travel 
training including 
monitoribng outcomes  

SEND   
travel 
training  

Train additional travel trainer to enable further capacity  - 5 Pas already identified to 
progress  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Oc
t-
19 

Jan-
20 

    
Audit current independent travel training across all settings 

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Se
p-
20 

Apr-
21 

    
Set targets, monitor and evaluate. This then to be reported to  the SEND Partnership 
Board 

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Se
p-
20 

Jun-
21 

b. Preparation for 
Adulthood outcomes  

  
Further sharpen PFA outcomes in EHC plans  - via specific  training for schools led by 
working group within special schools  

  
Madeline 
Metcalfe 

Ja
n-
20 

Dec-
21 

c.Supporting the most 
appropriate living 
arrangements for SEND 
families 

SEND  
Housing 

Contribute  to Housing strategy consultation  

  
Cathy 

Starbuck 

N
ov
-

19 
Dec-
21 

  Housing 

Chiildrens housing information shared with Strategic Housing Lead to inform furure 
commissioing  

  
Cathy 

Starbuck 

N
ov
-

19 
Dec-
21 

P
age 77



d. Further develop 
accessible leisure 
opportunities for children 
and young people with 
SEND 

OFSTED,  
Provisio
n 

Audit current provision including mainstream and special school settings, Salford 
Community Leisure, the Arts,  and other providers. Ensure all leisure opportunities are 
put on the local offer.  

  

Need to 
agree 

who the 
lead is - 
LA and 
health.      

  
provisio
n 

Share with Familes, children and young people via email to schools and notifcations on 
school  websites as well as being widely available and accessible on the "Local Offer"   

Debbie 
Fallon     

3. Sufficient range of 
quality provision 

SEND 
  

        
a. To review the 
continuum of provision 
including the quality 
assurance of enhanced 
resources  

SEND  
QA 

Quality assurance to be undertaken by local Teaching school of Enhanced Resources - 
linked to outcomes priority above 

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Se
p-
19 

Feb-
20 

              
b. To maximise impact of 
SEN Capital Fund to 
enhance the existing 
estate 

SEND  
provisio
n  

Planning in progress for further extension to Craig Hall for September 20  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Se
p-
19 

Aug-
20 

              
c. To open the new 
special free school for 
autism and distressed 
behaviours by 2022 

SEND  
provisio
n  

Stakeholder event for possible providers  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Ju
n-
19 

Jun-
19 

P
age 78



  
provisio
n 

Application to be submitted by potential providers  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Se
p-
19 

Sep-
19 

  
provisio
n 

Selection process in partnership with the DFE  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Ja
n-
20 

Jan-
20 

d. Strengthen the use of 
SEND data in 
‘conversations’ to include 
progress, attainment, 
exclusions, attendance & 
financial.  

SEND, 
OFSTED, 
JSNA 
challeng
e to 
schools  

LA officers including School improvement officers to utilise comprehensive data set to 
support and challenge schools and fed into Schools Causing concern process 

  
Sue 

Johnson 

De
c-
19 

Jan-
20 

  
challeng
e to 
schools  

Further develop a robust challenge to schools, through the Peer Review cycle, Super 
Planning Meetings, and through the work of School Improvement and LA officers 

  

Geoff 
Catterall/

Claire 
Jackson/

Vicky 
Ross 

De
c-
19 

Mar-
21 

  
challeng
e to 
schools  

Exclusions (fixed term and permanent) and attendance data to be shared at monthly In 
Year Fair Access panels to enable peer challenge 

  
Sue 

Johnson 

N
ov
-

19 
Nov-

19 

  
challeng
e to 
schools  

School profiles to be shared with heads and governing bodies (SEN profiles - links with 
peer review work. one page SEN profile of school including HNF) 

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Ja
n-
20 

Jul-
21 

  
challenge 
to 

Data to be shared with Leaders from Multi Academy Trusts at DCS Termly partnership 
meeting   

Geoff 
Catterall 

M
ar-

Jul-
21 

P
age 79



schools  20 

  
challeng
e to 
schools  

Annual report to SEND Board  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Ju
n-
20 

Jun-
21 

e. Further develop 
and improve post-16 
outcomes for pupils 
with SEND 

OFSTE
D   QA 

Review post-16 provision with providers. Action plan a way forward to improve 
outcomes for for young people with SEND. PfA outcomes - mainstream  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

M
ar-
20 

Jun-
21 

4. Health Outcomes              

a.Early identification 
assessment and 
planning 

SEND, 
OFSTE
D, 
JSNA 

  

        

b. Improving health 
advice provision 
within statutory 
timescales  

OFSTE
D   
health 
provisi
on  

All health providers will be asked to prioritise writing health advice for EHC plans. 
Capacity concerns to be raised with commissioners. Implement the Open Objects 
system to write advice more efficiently. Ensure advice is still submitted on time 
throughout the Covid Pandemic 

  

Michelle 
Morris / 
Alison 
Pike 

De
c-
19 

Dec 
20/J
an 
21 

c.Early identification 
of potential health 
needs prior to 
childbirth 

OFSTE
D  
training 
and QA 

to develop a competency framework with early help and a training package to allow 
early help to complete universal antenatal contacts and the 0-19 service to complete 
the more complex contacts 

  

Michelle 
Morris / 
Alison 
Pike / 

Deborah 
Blackbur

n 

De
c-
19 

Dec-
20 

P
age 80



d.Identification of 
health needs at key 
points in school 
journey 

OFSTE
D 
health 
provisi
on  

School nurses to check for potential health needs in school aged children at key points 
of development to ensure opportunities are not missed to identify new or existing health 
needs by developing a screening tool to send out at school entry, year 6, and year 9 

  

Michelle 
Morris / 
Alison 
Pike 

De
c-
19 

Dec-
20 

e.Further developing 
an integrated 
approach at 2 - 2 and 
a half year health 
check 

OFSTE
D  
health  
provisi
on  

Health to ensure an integrated approach to the two to two and a half year check is fully 
integratedto avoid delays in professinals developing a shared understanding of 
children's identified needs and how they can be  met 

  

Michelle 
Morris / 
Alison 
Pike / 

Deborah 
Blackbur

n 

De
c-
19 

Dec-
20 

f.Developing 
consistent health 
checks post 14 years 
for students with 
learning disability 

OFSTE
D   
assess
ments 
(health 
)  

Health to develop a system so that children and young people with a learning disability, 
over the age of 14 have consistent health checks with their GP resulting in health 
action plan 

  

Michelle 
Morris / 
Alison 
Pike 

De
c-
19 

Dec-
20 

g.Improving 
timescales for health 
checks for children 
entering local 
authority care 

OFSTE
D  
assess
ments ( 
health )  

To work with social care and safeguarding to develop robust processes for the timely 
booking of LAC health assessments and ensure these are prioritised 

  

Michelle 
Morris / 
Alison 
Pike 

De
c-
19 

Dec-
20 

P
age 81



h. Further develop 
processess for under 
5's to have timely 
statutory 
assessments 

OFSTE
D   
assess
ments 
(educat
ion  )  

Review and refine arrangements for children under 5 with SEND, to access statutory 
assessments and avoid delay to statutory provision 

  

Geoff 
Catterall 
/ Claire 
Jackson 

De
c-
19 

Dec-
20 

              
i. Improve the quality of 
EHC Plans through a 
comprehensive quality 
assurance process that is 
owned by partners. 

SEND, 
OFSTED    
DSCO 

Designated Social work officer in place to provide support and challenge  to ensure 
quality of advices from Social care, 

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Se
p-
19 

Jul-
21 

   DSCO 
Audit to be undertaken to evaluate impact of new role  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Fe
b-
20 

Dec-
21 

  pathway  
Pathway to ensure Early help contributions to EHC are robust - school coordinator 
identified to lead on this  

  
Becky 
Bibby 

Ja
n-
20 

Jun-
21 

  
  
pathway  
&QA 

Audit to be undertaken to evaluate impact of early help pathway  

  
Becky 
Bibby 

Ap
r-
20 

Dec-
21 

  QA 

Further develop the EHC qualitly assurance process  to take place monthly, and to include 
external party as well as relevant partners health, social care,  EPS and  SEN team, -  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

M
ay
-

20 
Dec-
21 

P
age 82



  
OFSTED   
QA 

To ensure the quality of EHC plans reflect how identified needs are to be met. The plans need 
to ensure the intended outcomes are personal to the child and young person and are 
understood  by families to support progress 

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

M
ay
-

20 
Dec-
21 

  OFSTE
D   QA 

To further develop provision so that the changes recommended following an annual review are 
timely and effective. To be a priority for the SEN HUB. 

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

M
ay
-

20 
Dec-
21 

j. Improve the sharing 
of information and 
EHC plans with 
relevant professionals 

OFSTE
D   QA 

All professionals who advise EHC assessments to be have access to plans so that they can have 
an understanding  of how their advice has been incorporated in to the plan.  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

M
ay
-

20 
Dec-
20 

  QA 
Quarterly assurance report to the board to embed, monitor and evaluate  lessons learned. 
Explore the role of the SEN HUB and how it can be used to share relevant information. 

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Jul
-

20 
Jul-
21 

              

k. Further inform 
commissioning intentions  
-Utilise EHCP process, 
data and intelligence  

SEND  
health 
provisio
n  

Specifications for services to be reviewed  in line with priority need: Community 
PaediatricsPaediatric OT & Physio         Other specifications to be advised.                                                                                                                         

  

Eejay 
Whitehea

d 

Jul
-

19 
21-
Mar 

  

 

    

  QA 

Further develop the commissioning cycle re SEND and ensure  feedback via the MAMs, CDF, 
Multi disciplinary panels and parents to inform future planning for services.  

  

Debbie 
Blackbur

n   

M
ar-
20 

Dec-
21 

P
age 83



  QA 

SEND board to receive quarterly report regarding any risk areas.  

  

Debbie 
Blackbur

n   

M
ay
-

20 
Dec-
21 

5. Clear 
communication and 
participation with 
children, young 
people and their 
families 

SEND, 
OFSTE
D, 
JSNA 

  

        
a. To improve the 
involvement of 
parents/carers at 
strategic level 

OFSTE
D 

Develop a framework to enhance parental involvement at straegic level in developing 
SEND strategy 

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Oc
t-
20 

Dec-
21 

b. To hold regular 
opportunities for parental 
engagement, in 
collaboration with Salford 
Parent Voice and other 
groups to ensure wide 
reach 

SEND 

Info Day 2019 led by Salford Parent Voice  

  
Deanne 

Shaw 

N
ov
-

19 
Nov-

19 

  
Commun
ications  

Extend Heatlh quarterly meeting with SPV to educaition and social care . SPV to set 
the agenda , Open session to any parent to raise any issues 

  

Geoff 
Catterall/

Diana 
Ward/De

anne 
Shaw 

Ja
n-
20 

Dec-
20 

P
age 84



  
Commun
ications  

Network across all parents group to be mapped and shared with SPV and SEND board  
to enable even better connectivity  

  

Geoff 
Catterall/

Debbie 
Fallon/St

even 
Booth 

Fe
b-
20 

Dec-
20 

  
commun
ications  

Parents survey  launched at SPV November event to be relaunched in January  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Ja
n-
20 

Dec-
20 

c. Further promote the 
Local Offer and check that 
the information is visible 
across Salford eg. 
Gateways, schools, early 
years settings. 

SEND, 
OFSTED, 
JSNA  
commun
ications  

As a priority, the Local Offer action plan developed to monitor improvemeents required  

  
Debbie 
Fallon 

N
ov
-

19 
Dec-
19 

  
 
commun
ications  

Communications plan to implemented once local offer has been improved as per action 
plan  

  
Debbie 
Fallon 

Ja
n-
20 

Dec-
20 

d. Create consultation 
routes for children and 
young people with SEND 
which are meaningful and 
result in direct feedback 
‘you said, we did’ . 

SEND  
commun
ications  

Young people survey to be developed to mirror the parent survey 

  Kate 

Fe
b-
20 

Dec-
21 

  
communi
cations  

use Voice of the Child subgroup and Youth service  to ensure better links with young people's 
groups - TAG, You Can, Siass advisory group  

  Kate 

Fe
b-
20 

Dec-
21 

P
age 85



6. Managing the High 
needs  Budget deficit 
recovery plan  

SEND   
QA 

Governance group with independent chair set up , terms of refernce in place  

  
Cathy 

Starbuck 

Se
p-
20 

Dec-
20 

   QA 

Work plan in place to oversee key areas  

  
Geoff 

Catterall 

Se
p-
20 

Mar-
21 

  QA 

DFE advisor visit arranged  

  
Geoff 

Catterall  

Fe
b-
20 

Mar-
21 

 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 86



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme: Early Help Neighbourhood Operational Group (EHNOG) 
Lead: Becky Bibby, Assistant Director, Early Help and School Readiness Contact: Clare Hopton, 0-25 Advisory Board Business Manager 

Work programme context:
The Early Help Neighbourhood Operational Group (EHNOG) was established in October 2019 following a refresh of previous arrangements for Early Help
and will oversee the work plan for Early Help across the City. It will provide deep dive exploration and intelligence on the Early Help system to identify
areas for further connectivity and escalate potential barriers and challenges to the appropriate forums and boards.

In response to Covid-19, the group has revisited its key priorities and opportunities for partnership working to develop a revised Living with Covid-19
work plan that will be implemented over the next 12 months.

Programme structure and implementation:
• Reports to POG (joint Council and CCG governance) and 0-25 Advisory Board 
• Assurance reporting arrangements also established with the Salford Safeguarding Children Partnership (SSCP) 

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)
• Early Help Strategy Task and Finish Group re-arranged for 17 June with good 

representation from a range of partner agencies. Initial feedback to go to EHNOG on 
7 July.

• PIMH Task and Finish Group established and met on 26 May. An action plan has been 
developed and will be monitored via this group 

• High Needs/SEND Pathway Development Task and Finish Group met on 26 May 
following the mapping exercise. A list of all current pathways is being collated and 
consultation with families to capture their experience of services and pathways is 
taking place prior to the next meeting.  

• Feedback on the Our Family Voice Implementation Plan and Training offer being 
collated following a request for comments across the Early Help Service. Our Family 
Voice Champions have been nominated. 

• Development of a project plan including governance arrangements for the Bridge 
Transformation Project and has had sign off at Leadership Team. A desk top exercise 
to look at the ‘as is’ process and referrals has taken place. A report with the findings 
and recommendations went to Leadership Team on 14 June.  Weekly project 
meetings are now in place.

• Early Help Assessment webpage and online forms are currently being revised
• Promoted the 1001 Days Antenatal and Postnatal Pathway and Early Help online 

resource in the May and June SSCP ebulletin  

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
• Progress with the re-write or refresh of the Early Help Strategy and 

feedback to EHNOG on 7 July
• PIMH Task and Finish Group to meet again on 15 June
• High Needs/SEND Pathway Development Task and Finish Group  to meet 

again on 23 June. 
• Our Family Voice Task and Finish Group meeting on 28 June.
• Strengthening Families paper to be scheduled at Leadership Team with 

the PID and Project Plan. 
• Bridge Transformation Squad to be established and progress with 

project plan. 
• Call for items for Summer edition of the Early Help newsletter
• Development of Early Help online resources continues with content 

being shared regularly by Early Help Teams
• Introductory meeting  to be arranged with Sharn  Begum, new SSCP 

Business Manager and Early Help Assurance area lead (Becky Bibby)

0-25 Transformation 
Highlight Report

P
age 87

A
genda Item

 9



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

• Refresh of the Early Help Strategy 
• Progress Bridge Transformation Project Plan 

Ongoing from June 2021
June 2021

Risks 

No immediate risks identified.

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Financial spend/requests:

Not applicable.

Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 88



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:        Lead: 

Work programme context:
Salford Thrive: supporting children and young people’s emotional health and wellbeing
Programme structure and implementation:
Our structure chart needs updating to reflect recent developments, especially around MHiE which includes the 
Following: 1) Thrive in Education Programme Oversight Board, 2) TIE Operational Mgt Group, 3)  TIE expert 
reference group, which replaces the longstanding working group. In addition, there is a task and finish group
supporting the development of a sports/physical activity on prescription pathway. and will advise the board and 
undertake work to further develop and support the Thrive in Education Agenda.
The Early Years working Group no longer exists but other working groups have met to feed into the PIMH work and
business case which will now sit under the 1001 Days work plan (under Becky Bibby).

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)
• Thrive in Education programme: the second TiE Board meeting took place 

10.06.21. The TiE Operational Mgt Group continues to meet monthly. Q4 report 
showed that between Oct 20 and March 21, 354 YP have been supported/are 
receiving support. 91 cases had been closed, of which 71 had 2+ contacts. There 
were 232 referrals of which 94% were accepted. Physical Activity pilot proposals 
have been developed, of which 2 started in June and one starts in Sept. the Peer 
support pilot proposal in in draft and is expected to be signed off by end of June 
to start from July. Year one schools have been reviewed & EOIs considered and 
the TIE team are now in the process of making offers to 53 schools from Sept 21.

• Neuro Devt: a Senior ND Pathway Co-ordinator role description was agreed and is 
currently out for EOIs. This post will be key in taking a number of pieces of work 
forward and providing additional clinical capacity where needed.

• PIMH work programme: the PIMH Implementation Group met for the second 
time 15.06.21 and Commissioning and Service leads are now meeting to progress 
work outside of these. The Group will continue to meet until end of March to 
support set up of governance and implementation phase. A revised CAPS 
proposal has now been received from MFT and CCG /SCC have been asked to 
support the proposed increased costs to ensure we have a compliant CAPS offer 
& appropriate capacity to meet local needs as per the GM specification. 

• Surge Pressures: all providers are reporting service pressures resulting from 
increased demand and significant complexity/acuity and the impacts that this 
work and the duration of such pressures is having on the workforce. A proposal 
has been received by CAMHS for increased capacity to support a dedicated 
worker in the bridge & to test a SPoA model for GP referrals and self referrals.

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
• The GM MHST programme financial envelope is under review and we 

are still awaiting receipt of funding allocations for delivery form April 
2021. NHSE have confirmed 3 further years funding to GM

• Outstanding - Approval of the Peer support pilot
• Further CAMHS Surge work planning meetings to be arranged before 

end July to progress system transformation proposals around new 
pathways: 1. For 7 day follow ups from A&E to a) reduce the burden on 
CAMHS, b) widen the support/options for children and families c) 
reduce the repeat attendances to A&E through targeted follow up with 
YP and referring professionals (especially schools) and education around 
alternative strategies and how to access timely advice and support 
when needed. 2. To test a Single Point of Access via the Bridge multi-
agency / system transformation). 

• CAMHS COVID surge plan to ‘business as usual’ now been deferred due 
to on-going service pressures and will be reviewed again in Sept/Oct.

• Subject to approval of the revised CAPS proposal, MFT will be able to go 
out to recruit the new team

• A stakeholder workshop has been arranged for 13.08.21 to consider the 
impact and future needs for Dad’s Matter and this will inform a 
business case for continued funding.

• A dedicated CYPMH Commissioning Manager has finally been recruited 
and will start w/c 19.07.21

Ongoing - Thrive Network: weekly email updates, EHWB webpages being 
kept updated, online directory updated and analytics show is well used.

0-25 Transformation: Highlight Report
Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 89



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

As described on previous outlook, plus:
• GM/CCGs are still working through new CYPMH funding allocations. It remains unclear whether there will be any capacity to support 

local needs / proposals for increased investment as money starts to flow directly to providers. MHIS should now pick up CCG baseline 
funding and support delivery on LTP  priorities

• NHSE monitoring of MHIE work and GM MHSTs is expected but a start date for this is  not yet agreed
• Neuro development Pathway lead recruitment panel
• Peer support proposal –sign off

Unknown

TBC – Q1/2 20201-22
End June 21
End June 21

Risks 

Ongoing pressure of managing Thrive / CYP MH work programme. Whilst we were successful in recruiting a dedicated Commissioning Manager to support this
programme, the other Commissioning Manager has handed in notice to take up a new role in CCG. This means that the new recruit will be picking up other work that
was not intended for them to do and this will limit their capacity to take on core CYPMH work.

Surge demand and pressures in CYP MH services are ongoing and will continue to be monitored in the usual way. CAMHS COVID Surge Plan prioritisation was planned
to return to ‘business as usual in May 2021 but this has now been deferred and will be reviewed in Sept/Oct. We remain unclear about how we can fund the proposals
to support CAMHS surge and to support system re-design in response to COVID pressures.

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 
COVID surge, service and CYPMH system 
pressures

1. Service updates and COVID Surge Plans published 1st December 2020 – ongoing review and 
comms to wider Thrive system and referrers (GPs, Social Care and Education).

2. A number of vacancies in CAMHS have now been recruited to and staff starting in post. 
3. 42nd street have a number of new starters taking up new posts in Salford in June.
4. Services are doing their best to manage staff wellbeing and providing increased flexibility 
5. Discussions between CGG and GM re CYPMH funding flow and how we can fund the proposals 

received from CAMHS to support system transformation.
6. CCG/Council MH finance group now meeting regularly to review MHIS plans/financial pressures 

and funding requirements.

Financial spend/requests:

• Proposals from CAMHS and Emerge services for additional capacity / Surge Support ( 2 x Band 7 posts). The funding streams for these remains unclear.
• Peer support proposal (MHST £5,000 budget allocated) – to be signed off via Debbie Blackburn by end of June.

Issues for escalation ( through 0-25 Advisory Board and/or Commissioning Committee)

None.

P
age 90



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:        CAN ERG                                                          Lead: Debbie Blackburn 

Work programme context: Our ambition in Salford is for a well-planned continuum of provision from birth to age 25 that meets the
needs of children and young people with Special Educational Needs or Disability (SEND) and their families at the earliest point.
This will be achieved through:
• Integrated services and pathways across education, health and social care which work in partnership with parents and carers.
• Processes that are developed within a Needs and Outcomes Framework.

It also means a strong commitment to early intervention and prevention so that children’s and young people’s needs are met at the
earliest opportunity and do not escalate and thus require interventions at a much higher level.

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)
• Neuro developmental pathway audit of training for parents and 

professionals now live
• We have asked for expressions of interest for a Senior Pathway 

coordinator for a 12 month secondment in order to design a business 
case for recurrent funding and support the work of the NDP.

• Ten nominees from across the local authority health and social care 
have been identified to attend the post diagnostic training called 
“Riding the rapids” which is funded by GM, the first sessions have 
started now

• Operation review of pathfinder complete- went well
• The personal budgets steering group (social care) has met with legal 

to identify the process salford intends to deliver and CG plans to 
develop a process in alignment with the family partnership model

• Transferring TCS into Social care has been further deferred but 
arrangements for Clinical Psychology input are now in place

• Interview dates set for 2nd Keyworker post
• The Parent Assembly is now talking place regularly and gaining 

momentum

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
• Appoint senior pathway coordinator
• AT hand over to MA
• Discuss whether to apply for Innovation funding
• Workshop for NDP review and links to other key pathways 

to be held
• Agree who will support triage as Bernie Garner is leaving
• Design monthly drop in ‘surgeries’ for families around neuro 

dev areas of need.
• Support schools training for NDP
• Focus at steering group on ‘diagnosis’
• Set up effective performance management
• GM funding is available for 3rd Keyworker. 
• Progress  TCS service moving to CWD team and firm up 

referral process

0-25 Transformation 
Highlight Report

P
age 91



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

Appoint Senior pathway coordinator
At hand over to MA
Appoint to commissioning manager CWD

1st July
14 July
1 Aug

Risks 

CAMHs waiting list for neuro dev
Neuro pathway complexity of interlinking aspects needs careful consideration.
Staff turnover for Neuro dev- 3 experienced members of staff leaving
Numbers of referrals coming into the pathway

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Non delivery of Neuro needs led pathway Need to agree staff in key roles ie triage
Lack of short breaks provision for families Review and plan to mitigate impact on families
Impact of covid on provision to families Negotiations with providers

Financial spend/requests:

Neuro Dev business case recurrent funding to be determined by senior pathway coordinator and commissioners.

Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 92



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:        Therapies ERG (SLCN & OT / PT) Lead:  Tori Quinn

Work programme context:
OT/PT
This is a continuation of the therapies test for change work. It builds on the SLCN review and re-specification and is a joint service review of OT / PT with a view to 
developing a new joint, outcome-focussed, service specification across the CCG and LA.
SLCN
Focussed on implementation of the new specification based on the new schools based delivery model N.B. COVID-19 has affected delivery of the full specification.
COVID has caused significant disruption to service delivery, altering the needs and demands on the services. This will affect the full delivery of the SLCN specification.
The provider has developed proposals to ensure provision for children in the current context, but recovery to pre-COVID levels may take some time. The service
expects to be back to full allocation in schools from September 2021.

Programme structure and implementation:
OT / PT working group that meets to review current service and develop new service specification feeding into Therapies ERG.
SLCN implementing the new specification, reporting to Therapies ERG with task & finish groups established around particular issues.
Exception reporting through to POG

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)
SLCN
• Virtual training offer still being delivered and continues to be well received
• Schools starting to use their core allocation now
• Still pressure on delivery of EHCP hours & staff are learning to use the new EHCP hub 

for new assessments which is taking time
• New staff starting in the summer

OT / PT
• Waiting to reinstate hydro-therapy pool sessions at SRFT
• Continuing to increase number of face-to-face appointments
• Issues with invitations to annual reviews from certain schools – volume of EHCP 

reviews impacting on service delivery
• Continuing to learn how to utilise the new EHCP hub
• Still an impact on the service due to appointment cancellations on the day due to 

Covid – cancellation rate is higher than 2 months ago

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
SLCN
• Continue to risk assess service delivery
• Induct new staff & recruit additional staff
• Review of delivery of the new service specification in its first year, 

including elements delivered by SaLT and wider partners
• Obtain final sign-off of SCC contribution to joint commission

OT / PT
• Continue to risk assess service delivery
• Re-specification of OT /PT service & business case for additional 

resource
• Need to source OT locum for vacancy beginning end of July
• Planning to expand clinic capacity once additional clinic room built at 

Pendleton Gateway
• Once all annual reviews for 20/21 completed an audit of quantified 

hours to be completed
• Service to move to St James’ House 

0-25 Transformation: Highlight Report
Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 93



Risks 

1. Estates: lack of adequate therapy space in some schools and difficulties in travelling across a number of school sites where staff are often not trained to be able to support 
the child. Any new specialist input into schools needs additional resource that needs to be factored in

2. Post 16yr olds: increasing numbers with EHCPs are accessing post 16 learning pathways e.g. 213 young people in City College with EHCPs requiring input, albeit not all with 
therapeutic needs, 75 young people who have moved from Year 11 to college who would require ongoing SALT input. The majority have EHCPs with SALT hours, with many 
of them continuing to stay on at Oakwood and Chatsworth college provision

3. Achievement of stated EHCP hrs:  if EHCP hrs are prioritised in the current situation then preventative work is not being done which will impact in the longer term, 
potentially with increased numbers of EHCPs. Also it is not always possible to deliver what is stated in the Plan due to COVID restrictions, however there is no longer the 
relaxation of the legislation to ‘reasonable endeavours’ as there was  in the initial months of the pandemic

4. Developmental Language Disorder: this is under-identified in Salford, work is ongoing to raise awareness and if this leads to greater identification, then this may mean that 
there needs to be a re-prioritisation of resource based on need, which may mean that some CYP no longer receive a service

5. Gaps identified in new SLCN service specification: lack of provision for PRU’s and independent Jewish schools
6. Staffing issues: SaLT have had experienced staff leave and have struggled to recruit to vacancies, OT / PT need locum cover and do not have the capacity to engage in the 

business case development at the moment
7. Impact of managing children from out of area – Shirley Gallagher-Woods is leading  some GM work on this area & SaLT is contributing data 
8. Moving and Handling Risks Assessments in Schools: As the employer schools have duty of care to ensure employees and pupils are safe, including adequate training, 

equipment and policies being place. This is not happening in all mainstream schools and has been raised with management but not yet implemented
9. COVID-19 Impact: Late cancellations due to isolating/bubble closures means slots go unutilised.  Additional cleaning is also required meaning clinic slot times have been 

increased. Both of these issues risk increasing waiting times

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Post 16yrs 1. Review the data and scope the provision 16+ 

Estates issues 1. Proposed Changes to education estate shared at LA/CCG Liaison Meeting
2. LA/CCG  planning on health services in special schools – meetings to be resumed

Gaps in SLCN service specification 1. Training to be offered to independent Jewish schools – this has been taken up 
2. 16+ in schools & colleges & PRU’s to be explored as part of first year review of the spec

Staffing Issues 1. SaLT have appointed newly qualified staff and will train them up but this will be more   resource 
intensive in the short term

Out of Area issues 1. SaLT are contributing data to the GM review of this area

Financial spend/requests:

Business case to be prepared for additional investment in OT /PT to ensure future service addresses gaps identified within the review.

Issues for escalation ( through 0-25 Advisory Board and/or Commissioning Committee)

Achievement of stated EHCP hrs: if EHCP hrs are prioritised in the current situation then preventative work is not being done which will impact in the longer term,
potentially with increased numbers of EHCPs and commissioning committee is asked to note this risk. Difficulties in delivering what is stated in the EHC Plan due to
COVID restrictions.

Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

Re-specification of OT / PT service & business case to support additional resource July 2021

P
age 94


	Agenda
	3 Draft minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2021.
	5 Integrated Commissioning Annual Plan for Children's services 2021/22 (Emma Reid)
	Appendix 1 - 2021-22 Annual Plan for CCC as at 02-07-21

	6 Finance Report. (David Warhurst)
	7 Ingleside Birth & Community Centre Update. (Karen Proctor)
	Ingleside BCC Report to CCC July 2021 FV - Appendix 1

	8 SEND Activity Assurance (Geoff Catterall)
	9 0-25 Highlight reports from sub groups. (For Information)
	7. 0-25 Highlight Report - Thrive June 2021
	7. 0-25 Highlight report CAN ERG June 2021
	7. 0-25 Transformation Highlight Report Therapies ERG June 2021


